# THE UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES OF DIRECT DEMOCRACY IN CALIFORNIA

By

# JOHN BOVÉE

A capstone submitted to the

Graduate School-Camden

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the degree of Master of Arts

Graduate Program in Liberal Studies

Written under the direction of

Dr. Cynthia Saltzman

And approved by

Dr. Cynthia Saltzman

Camden, New Jersey

May 2017

#### CAPSTONE ABSTRACT

The Unintended Consequences of Direct Democracy in California

# by JOHN BOVÉE

Capstone Director: Dr. Cynthia Saltzman

In an attempt to curb the influence that special interests held over the state of California, especially that of the Southern Pacific Railroad, Governor Hiram Johnson convinced the voters in 1911to enact direct democracy via the initiative, recall and referendum. The initiative gave California voters a way to bypass the Governor and State Legislature and propose laws and constitutional amendments directly to their fellow citizens via the ballot box. In the ensuing 104 years, nearly 2,000 initiatives would be circulated for qualification, but only 132 of those would successfully be passed by voters after making it onto the ballot.<sup>2</sup> This study examines four of these successful direct democracy initiatives: 1966's Proposition 1-A, that created a full-time legislature; 1978's Proposition 13, which slashed property taxes; 1990's Proposition 140, that enacted term limits; and Proposition 34 in 2000, which imposed campaign contribution limits on those seeking state office. In the case of each of these four initiatives, voters were promised by the advocates that if enacted, each would help curb the power of the special interests in California. But instead, this study will show that the combined effect of the four initiatives would unintentionally, but dramatically, shift the balance of power in state government away from the people and toward the large special interests that they were ironically designed to curb.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

In the spring of 2015 I took the graduate class, *Women, Men, and Work*, from Professor Cynthia Saltzman. The idea for this research paper sprang from a book Dr. Saltzman assigned for the class, Karen Ho's *Liquidated*. The entrenched nature of the Wall Street culture, where short term profits rule over long term gains, reminded me of the present-day California State Capitol, where term limited legislators deal in relatively minor issues while avoiding tackling the major problems the state faces.

Having worked in California government and politics for over thirty-eight years, I could see many similarities between the dysfunction of Wall Street and that of the State Capitol. I wanted to explain this capitol culture, how it got this way, and what might be done to provide course correction. Dr. Charme worried that I was undertaking too much. When I hit page 75 on my project, without remotely being near completion, I realized he was, as usual, probably right. I then made the difficult decision to focus only on how the culture came to be via four voter-approved statewide initiatives.

I want to thank Dr. Saltzman who suffered through ten different drafts of this ever-changing project. I also want to thank Dr. Charme for his support and friendship over these last three and one half years as I proceeded down the course of gaining my master's degree – one class at a time!

Finally, I want to thank my family who allowed me the many hours necessary to complete the MALS program and this capstone project. Without their support this paper would not have been possible.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part I	
Introduction	1
State of the Debate	2
Part II	
The Four Initiatives and Their Unintended Consequences	4
1. Proposition 1-A (1966): Creating a Full-Time Legislature	4
2. Proposition 13 (1978): Slashing Property Taxes	10
3. Proposition 140 (1990): Legislative Term Limits	16
4. Proposition 34 (2000): Campaign Finance Reform	24
Part III	
Putting the Pieces Together: The Unintended Results of the Four Initiatives	34
Conclusion—The Irony and the Hope of Direct Democracy	38
Endnotes	40
Bibliography	48

#### PART I

#### Introduction

"California's government no longer shall be an asset of the Southern Pacific Company."<sup>3</sup>

Hiram Johnson Governor of California, 1911-1917

"Politics is tricky; it cuts both ways. Every time you make a choice, it has unintended consequences."

Stone Gossard Pearl Jam

At the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century the Southern Pacific Railroad dominated California government and politics. It controlled not only the State Legislature and the Governorship, but city and county governments as well.<sup>5</sup> It used money and gifts to buy political support. Free passes on its rail lines were routinely handed out to lawmakers and their aides. They curried the support of the press via the placement of large advertisements in their newspapers. So complete was the influence of the Southern Pacific that they actually paid political managers in every county to keep lists of potential sympathetic jurors in the event of litigation.<sup>6</sup>

But in 1910, Hiram Johnson campaigned specifically on the issue of ending the decades long domination of the railroads in California politics.<sup>7</sup> As a result, he and a host of other progressives swept into power and soon put 23 initiatives before the voters to change the California constitution. One of these was the idea of direct democracy via the initiative, recall and referendum.<sup>8</sup> And in 1911, the voters of California overwhelmingly passed the idea of the initiative by 76 percent.<sup>9</sup>

The initiative gave California voters a way to bypass the Governor and State Legislature and propose laws and constitutional amendments directly to their fellow citizens via the ballot box. Starting in 1912, and over the next 104 years, close to 2,000 initiatives would be circulated for qualification to the California ballot. Out of these, only 376 of them (19 percent) would qualify for the ballot, and of those, only132 (6.6 percent of all circulated) would be passed by the voters. Everything from regulating prize fights, to issuing fishing licenses, to the death penalty, to liquor laws and reapportionment were dealt with by the voters via the initiative process. 11

This study examines four of these successful direct democracy initiatives: 1966's Proposition 1-A, that created a full-time legislature; 1978's Proposition 13, which slashed property taxes; 1990's Proposition 140, that enacted term limits; and Proposition 34 in 2000, which imposed campaign contribution limits on those seeking state office. In the case of each initiative, voters were promised by the advocates that if enacted, each would help curb the power of the special interests in California. But instead, each of the initiatives would have a host of unintended consequences that when combined would end up shifting the balance of power in state government away from the people and toward the special interests.

#### **State of the Debate**

There have been numerous studies on California government and politics, many of which have focused on one of the four initiatives discussed in this paper. Steve Swatt, in *Game Changers, Twelve Elections that Transformed California*, provides an excellent overview of three of the four elections discussed in this paper, as well as a good background of how the initiative process came to be in California. Other sources, such as

Lynda Powell's book, The Influence of Campaign Contributions in State Legislatures, provides perhaps the definitive examination of how money can buy influence in state government. She also examines how term limits tends to steer legislators away from trying to resolve the major problems their states may face, and toward working on smaller issues. Seth Masket's work, No Middle Ground: How Informal Party Organizations Control Nominations and Polarize Legislatures, clearly outlines the concept of "select and elect" that is so prevalent in California politics today, and one that will be shown to have been greatly enhanced by the voter-approved Proposition 34 in 2000. Susan Miller, Jill Nicholson-Crotty and Sean Nicholson-Crotty provide an excellent overview of the deteriorating effects of term limits on the institutional memories of state legislatures in Reexamining the Institutional Effects of Term Limits in the U.S. State Legislatures. Finally, Jeffrey Chapman in Proposition 13: Some Unintended Consequences, provides a first-rate analysis of how the tax cutting proposition pushed power from local to state government and forever altered California's methods of taxation. These are but four of the literally dozens of works that I drew upon for this study and that have been listed out in the bibliography section of this paper.

Despite the vast body of scholarly work in this field, however, there has been little research specifically on the combined effects that the four California initiatives had in shifting the balance of power in state government away from the people of California and toward the large special interests that they were ironically designed to curb. Adding to this body of knowledge therefore, and fostering a greater understanding of the many elements that were involved, is the primary goal of this paper.

#### PART II

# The Four Initiatives and Their Unintentional Consequences

### Proposition 1-A (1966): Creating a Full-Time Legislature

"...before Proposition 1-A, legislators depended on their regular occupation for a living, while now they depend on staying in office for a livelihood." <sup>12</sup>

H.L. Richardson, Republican California State Senate, 1966-1990

"The Legislature became very political and a good deal more partisan." <sup>13</sup>

James R. Mills, Democrat Pro Tem of the California State Senate, 1970-1980

In 1961 Jesse Unruh became Speaker of the California State Assembly. At the time, the Speakership was a part-time job because the Legislature only met for approximately fifty days out of the year. <sup>14</sup> It could only consider bills that were presented to it by the Governor, had almost no staff, and little if any real power other than to vote yay or nay on what the Governor asked for. <sup>15</sup>

Unruh was committed to establishing the California State Legislature as a coequal branch of government, along with the executive and judicial branches. <sup>16</sup> To do this he felt he needed to establish a full-time legislature. But a full-time legislature had many obstacles to overcome to become a reality. It first required the Governor to introduce the idea to the Legislature. It then required passage through both the Assembly and the Senate. Then, because it required a change in the California constitution, a vote of the people was necessary. <sup>17</sup>

Unruh almost singlehandedly accomplished all three. He convinced the Governor to place a bill before the Legislature. Through horse trading he got it passed out of first the Assembly, and then on the last night of session, the Senate. Finally, Unruh convinced

both candidates for Governor – Ronald Reagan and Pat Brown – to support the measure and film television commercials on its behalf. <sup>18</sup> In the campaign, Unruh would maintain that "better paid legislators could deal more adequately with the Capitol's strong interest groups." At least in part, then, the campaign for Proposition 1-A was a campaign against the power of the Sacramento special interests.

On election-day, Proposition 1-A passed with over 73 percent of the vote.<sup>20</sup> The California Legislature would now meet full-time. Legislators would be paid a living wage and have ample staff to help them govern California on a co-equal basis.<sup>21</sup> And it worked... at least for a while. In the late 1960's and early 1970's, various comparative studies rated the California Legislature as among the best in the country.<sup>22</sup> Sacramento Bee political editor Richard Rodda drew the same conclusion after conducting visits to several state houses around the nation.<sup>23</sup>

However, as American sociologist Robert Merton discussed in his 1936 article, "The Unanticipated Consequences of Purposive Social Action," like most change, there are the intended and the unintended consequences. <sup>24</sup> For Proposition 1-A, it would be five unintended consequences that would help to forever change the California State Capitol. Those unintended changes consisted of first, altering the type of individual who ran for office; second, dramatically increasing the size of the legislative staff; third, boosting the ambitions of those new staff; fourth, dramatically increasing partisanship in both chambers; and finally, increasing the importance of fundraising for the purposes of ensuring reelection.

The first unanticipated change in the Legislature was in the type of individual who ran for state office. Prior to Proposition 1-A, legislative members served part-time

and had other occupations that paid the bills. State Senator Walter Stiern, elected in 1957, was a veterinarian.<sup>25</sup> Senator Al Rodda, elected in 1958, was a college professor.<sup>26</sup> If they lost their election it might hurt their pride, but it didn't really hurt their wallet or their careers. In other words, being a legislator wasn't their only identity. Post 1-A, members served full-time and began to make their careers in elective office. Legislative salaries more than doubled with the passage of Proposition 1-A, and would eventually climb from \$6,000 a year to over \$100,000 annually. In addition to their salaries, members also receive a tax free per diem for living expenses that now stands at \$35,000 a year.<sup>27</sup> Today, California State Legislators are the highest paid state representatives in the nation.<sup>28</sup>

Many of these new career politicians would come out of the ranks of the staff.

Prior to Proposition 1-A, no members of the 1966 California State Legislature were former staff members. But twenty years after its passage, retired Senator H.L.

Richardson estimated that up to one third of members in the 1987 Legislature were former staffers. By 1998, according to Steve Swatt, more than half of the members of the California State Legislature had prior staff experience. 30

With professional career politicians now ensconced in state elective office, the desire to retain one's job became increasingly important. Professor Alvin Sokolow of the University of California at Davis, who has studied the California State Legislature for twenty years, states that with the full-time legislature, "...today, defeat means that the legislator is out of a job and often has no community in the district to return to – home is Sacramento." This sentiment is backed up by Geral Gamm and Thad Kisser, who demonstrated in their work, *Broad Bills or Particularistic Policy?* – higher legislative

salaries heightened legislators' motivation to retain office.<sup>32</sup> As a result, many legislators felt the need to hire more political, as opposed to policy staff, to ensure that the member kept his or her job.<sup>33</sup>

The rise of staff, especially political staff, is yet another of the unintended consequences of the full-time legislature. Their numbers and importance in both houses of the Legislature increased dramatically with the passage of Proposition 1-A.<sup>34</sup> Prior to the full-time legislature, members were provided with very few staff positions. Although no official records were kept at the time, estimates were that approximately 100 individuals worked for the State Legislature in 1966.<sup>35</sup> Assemblyman Unruh, when he was named Chair of the powerful Ways and Means Committee, found out that he would be provided with but a single secretary.<sup>36</sup> After Proposition 1-A, however, staff would steadily grow. Within two years of the initiative's passage, staff had increased five-fold from 100 to 500.<sup>37</sup> By 2016 there were over 2,000 staff working for the State Legislature.<sup>38</sup> This represents an increase of 1,970 percent from 1967 to 2016, or an average annual increase of 6.25 percent.<sup>39</sup> The cost of the Assembly staff by 1983 was \$32 million, six times the cost of the entire 1961 Legislature.<sup>40</sup> By 2014, the legislative budget for staff for both houses was \$140 million.<sup>41</sup>

Increasing staff levels by itself wasn't necessarily a bad thing, especially with Unruh's goal of becoming a co-equal branch of government. It was not so much that staff increased in numbers, but rather the unintended consequences of who those staff were, what was being asked of them, and what their own personal motivations were.

Many of the new staff, rather than serving a policy function, took on the political function of helping their member keep his or her job.<sup>42</sup> As time wore on, politics would take

priority over policy and campaign types began to play an ever-larger role in state politics. As Sherry Bebitch Jeffe, Senior Fellow at the University of Southern California Sol Price School of Public Policy, and a former legislative staffer herself observed, "all this had led to a dangerous shift in the function of legislative staff from being the professional arm of the Legislature to a taxpayer-funded political muscle."

Highly paid political staff were also career-minded, and as ambitious as the politicians they represented. Not only did they run for office themselves, but they viewed the job of lobbyist as a legitimate career path once their service in the Capitol was done.<sup>44</sup> Thus, the beginnings of the revolving door between the Legislature and the lucrative jobs in the Third House (as the world of lobbying by special interests is known in Sacramento) began during this time period. 45 The danger here, as Sacramento State Professor John Syer observed, is that "if a committee consultant is looking for job alternatives outside the Legislature, he may well be less critical of interest groups that might be a future employer."46 Former Washington D.C. lobbyist Jack Abramoff made a similar observation regarding the staff in Washington, D.C. In his book, Capitol Punishment, Abramoff admitted he used to tell congressional staffers, "When you are done working for the Congressman, you should come work for me at my firm." He said after the enticement of a six-figure job was dangled in front of them, he would "own... that entire office."47 But whether implied or not, the career path of many staffers began to lead toward lobbying and the Third House. In Washington, Abramoff estimated that approximately 90 percent of all Congressional staff hoped to one day work in the lobbying world. 48 In Sacramento, it is estimated that well over half the current members of the Third House were once former Capitol staff.<sup>49</sup>

By general consensus, increased partisanship was yet another unintended consequence of the full-time legislature. Sherry Bebitch Jeffe, reflecting on the full-time legislature in 1986 concluded, "there is also a tilt toward more partisanship." Former Pro Tem of the Senate, Democrat James Mills stated in 1987 that, as a result of Proposition 1-A, the Legislature became "very political" and "a good deal more partisan."51 Retired Republican Senator H. L. Richardson, who served for 24 years, both before and after Proposition 1-A, stated that the Senate was now "ten times" more partisan than it was prior to the initiative.<sup>52</sup> And as the years went on, the problem of partisanship in the Legislature only got worse. University of Chicago Professor Boris Shor concluded in 2014 that "California continues to have the most polarized legislature in the nation."<sup>53</sup> Certainly a full-time legislature is not the sole cause of the extreme levels of partisanship we see today, but by all accounts, it has definitely been a contributing factor. And as numerous studies have shown, as partisanship increases legislative polarization escalates, resulting in a reduction in an elective body's ability to effectively legislate.<sup>54</sup>

A final unintended consequence of Proposition 1-A was the increased importance of campaign finance. Twenty years after the initiative, Sherry Bebitch Jeffe maintained that there was far more emphasis on raising the necessary funds to win reelection. Her conclusion was that professional legislators, far from being the independent members Unruh had envisioned, were instead far too dependent on special interest funding to protect their livelihood. Charles Bell and Charles Price, writing on the effects of the full-time Legislature stated that, "No other criticism is made as frequently or forcefully than that legislators have become too dependent on interest groups for campaign

financing."<sup>56</sup> And Lynda Powell concluded that higher compensated legislators tend to spend more time raising campaign contributions, and as a result, tend to be more influenced by their contributors.<sup>57</sup> This dependence on special interest campaign funding would only increase as the years went on, spiking dramatically after voters approved Proposition 34 in 2000.<sup>58</sup>

As time passed, Unruh's dream was realized and the state legislature gained an approximate parity with the other two branches of government. But with the full-time professional legislature, Unruh had also created the unintended consequences of a highly partisan, highly political, highly ambitious, staff heavy legislature. Looking back at the part-time vs. the full-time legislature, it was, as sociologist Max Weber might have observed, the difference between living for politics vs. living off politics. The legislators and their staffs now lived off politics. It was to be the first of four political earthquakes to hit California state government over the next 34 years.

# **Proposition 13 (1978): Slashing Property Taxes**

"Proposition 13 started the centralization of power. After that, the state started dictating what we did."  $^{60}$ 

Jerry Brown California Governor, 1974-1982 California Governor, 2010-Present

In the 1970's inflation increasingly became a problem in the United States.

Annual increases in the Consumer Price Index were anywhere from a low of 3.3 percent in 1971 to a high of 12.3 percent in 1974.<sup>61</sup> From 1970 to 1978, the CPI rose by 70 percent.<sup>62</sup> During that same time, however, housing prices in California nearly tripled.<sup>63</sup> For people in the Golden State these dramatically increased prices in their homes resulted in just as dramatic increases in their property tax bills, which were linked to assessed

value.<sup>64</sup> In some cases people had their property taxes double or triple over a very short period of time.<sup>65</sup> Since reassessments were done only every three years, the sticker shock of these tax bills created an undercurrent of widespread discontent.<sup>66</sup>

Enter Howard Jarvis and Paul Gann, two citizen tax crusaders that wrote and qualified Proposition 13 for the June 1978 ballot. Under the initiative, property assessments would be rolled back three years to 1975 and then set at one percent of market value. Future increases would be limited to just two percent until the property was sold.<sup>67</sup> The roll backs in Proposition 13 would slash property taxes in California by a whopping 57 percent.<sup>68</sup> If passed, it would result in a cut of seven billion dollars in property taxes, but without offering any substitute funding to local governments.<sup>69</sup>

The establishment, including then Governor Jerry Brown, all lined up against Proposition 13. *The Los Angeles Times* argued that the measure would cost 300,000 public employee jobs and force the closure of fire stations and libraries. The San Diego Union Tribune called Proposition 13 "an unvarnished piece of demagoguery." But on June 6th, voters nevertheless passed the measure by over 63 percent. Proposition 13 carried fifty-five out of fifty-eight counties in the state, including Los Angeles and San Diego. 72

While the voter-approved initiative reduced the amount homeowners paid in property taxes, and stabilized what they would pay going forward, it also had the effect of slashing a major funding source for local government.<sup>73</sup> Cutting that funding source meant either finding another method of financing local government programs, or, drastic cuts in these programs.

Governor Jerry Brown came to the rescue by using the state's large surplus to backfill approximately \$5 billion of the \$7 billion local municipalities lost to Proposition 13 funding cuts. These were state grants and loans that would now be used to fund local government programs that local property taxes used to take care of. In the years to come, however, this "temporary" bailout of local governments would become a permanent change in local government funding. In 1978, for example, the amount a county was able to raise on its own was approximately half of its revenue. By 1995, that figure had dropped to just 20 percent. Cities also saw a similar decrease in locally raised discretionary funds during this time from 66 percent to 43 percent.

As a result of Proposition 13, the bulk of funds for local government programs was now coming from either Sacramento or Washington, D.C. Herry Roberts and Phil Trounstine of the *Napa Valley Register* stated that Proposition 13 effectively shifted control of property tax revenue to Sacramento, and thereby took power and responsibility away from local governing bodies. Charles Price and Charles Bell, in their analysis of the full-time legislature noted that "...Proposition 13 has shifted substantial policy burdens from local government to Sacramento." Jerry Brown, who was Governor both when Proposition 13 was enacted, and again thirty-two years later, stated that because of Proposition 13, "the state legislature reduced the power of local authorities." And Steve Swat summed it up stating, "...the new reality (is) that local government funds now flowed from Sacramento..."

As the money needed to fund local programs shifted to Sacramento, a second, unintentional, shift would also take place. Sacramento money would come down to the local municipalities, but with strings attached. In 1978, for example, 57 percent of

county spending was discretionary. So Counties could use that money however they saw fit. But by 1995, the amount of discretionary funds had dropped to 31 percent. A 26 percent drop in just seventeen years. Cities and school districts too saw a precipitous decline in discretionary spending. As Swatt noted, after Proposition 13, local municipalities were "forced to come to Sacramento, hat in hand, and lobby for large chunks of general-fund dollars with strings attached."

Thus, a major, and fully unintentional, shift was taking place in the transfer of power and authority away from local governments and toward the state government housed in Sacramento. In essence, the State Legislature used their new found power of the purse strings to dictate policy. Michael Shires, author of *Patterns in California Government Revenues Since Proposition 13*, has concluded that, "determining the revenues to be raised and deciding how they will be spent, once a hallmark of local government, is a policy of the past in California." The loss of local discretion on both revenue-raising and expenditures has left local governments as little more than the implementation arm of the state. As Steve Peace, retired State Senator from San Diego who served in the Legislature from 1982 to 2002 stated, local government became more dependent on state funds and thereby increased the power of the state over those communities. 

\*\*Both The Institute of the Institut

As a result of this power shift, the importance of state government took on added significance, which in turn lead to the many special interests increasing their presence in the capitol city to fight for their share of the state financial pie. In 1975, three years before Proposition 13, California had 616 registered lobbyists. By 1985 that figure increased by 20 percent to 740 lobbyists. By 1996 it was 1,100 lobbyists, and by 2015,

1,760 people were registered as lobbyists in Sacramento. And this figure most probably does not even begin to cover the number of people actually hired to influence the state Legislature. A U.S. Government Accountability study in 2012 revealed that close to 75 percent of the people hired to influence Congress on Capitol Hill were not registered lobbyists. By all accounts, a similar trend of lobbyists "de-registering" has taken place in Sacramento as well. Sam Colburn, a long-time Capitol staffer estimated that about 30 percent of the people paid to influence state government are not registered lobbyists.

In addition to the rise in the number of lobbyists hired to influence the state legislature, there has also been a dramatic increase in the amounts spent in these pursuits. <sup>96</sup> In 1975, three years before the vote on Proposition 13, special interests spend \$19 million to lobby the state. By 1985 it was up to \$74 million. By 1994, \$122 million was spent by the special interests on lobbying. And in 2015, that number topped 300 million. <sup>97</sup> These figures are only for lobbying and do not include amounts spent on gifts or campaign expenditures. The years from 1976 to 1996 then, saw an increase in lobbying expenditures of 150 percent, even after adjusting for inflation. And from 1976 to 2015, lobbying expenditures increased by over 1,478 percent. An increased presence of paid special interests at the State Capitol then, was another unanticipated consequence of Proposition 13.

A third unintentional result of Proposition 13 was a shift away from the more stable funding source of property taxes and toward the more volatile ones of sales and income taxes. Historically, sales and income taxes demonstrate wide swings in volatility based on economic conditions. And in California, by 2007, the top 1 percent of state income tax filers paid approximately 48 percent of the taxes. As a result of this shift in

taxation methods, from 1995 to 2014, California had the 5<sup>th</sup> highest tax revenue volatility in the nation. Unused to such wide swings in revenues, the State Legislature spent freely during the good times, especially for ongoing programs, which would leave the state in dire financial circumstances when the down cycles came. In point of fact, every Governor since Proposition 13 passed has had to confront periodic massive deficits when the economy went into recession. The boom and bust revenue cycles, and the lack of experience the elected officials had in dealing with them, only added to the intensity over the fight for resources between traditional state services that now had to compete against an array of local programs.

Proposition 13 caused one final, and unintentional, change in California–that being the explosion in initiative campaigns. Prior to Proposition 13, 52 ballot initiatives had been on the ballot over the last 30 years, or about 2 per election cycle. In the 30 years since Proposition 13, over 156 propositions have been on the ballot, or an average of 10 per election cycle. Much of it was what was called "ballot box budgeting." That is, voter initiatives for such things as: creating a state lottery, mandating the amount of tax dollars going to public schools, or earmarking revenues for programs such as mental health or medical care. All of this ballot box budgeting lessened the discretionary funding options of the state and created even more of a life and death struggle for those funds that were left. In addition, a cottage industry developed around the initiative process and a flood of money poured in to pass or defeat what were largely special interest ballot measures. Since 2000, more than \$2 billion has been spent on initiative elections in California. California.

In 2016, the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association estimated that Proposition 13 had saved homeowners over \$528 billion since 1978. Coastal homeowners derived the most benefit as appreciations rates there were the greatest and the property owners tended to stay put. The effective tax rate for San Francisco property owners in 2015, for example, was just 0.6 percent. Palo Alto had a 0.42 percent rate, the lowest effective property tax rate in the nation. This was exactly what Proposition 13 was designed to do—lower property tax rates and then stabilize them.

Californian's, however, by voting for Proposition 13, had unintentionally, but dramatically, shifted power away from their nonpartisan local governments and toward the relatively new, full-time, and increasingly partisan, State Legislature in Sacramento. And as this power increasingly became concentrated at the state level, special interests, who now had more at stake than ever before, also expanded their Sacramento presence. Lobbying budgets, gift budgets and campaign spending were all increased by the Sacramento special interests. The professionalization of political campaigns also increased as a result of Proposition 13 as ballot box budgeting took on a far more prominent role in the state. But despite the incredible consequences, both intended and unintended, that Proposition 13 and the full-time legislature created, the two biggest changes to the State Capitol were yet to take place.

#### **Proposition 140 (1990): Legislative Term Limits**

"Term Limits cost the Legislature not only the institutional memories of longtime legislators, but also of longtime staffers, because the new legislators often brought in their own staffs."

111

Delia Chilgren California Regional Counsel, Retired Allstate Insurance "Of all the mistakes I've made in public life, the one I regret the most is advocating for term limits for the legislature." 112

Tom McClintock United States Congress, 2008-Present California State Senate, 2000-2008

Noted California political consultant Darry Sragow has maintained that about once every twelve years, California voters get completely dissatisfied with state government and pass an initiative designed to dramatically alter the political landscape. Much as Sragow predicted, twelve years after Proposition 13, California voters in 1990 enacted another major reform when they voted for Proposition 140. This was the initiative to enact term limits for state elected officials.

Proposition 140 came about largely because of then Assembly Speaker Willie Brown. Brown was a controversial, colorful, and highly effective Speaker of the California State Assembly. Most surveys at the time indicated that voters favored term limits as a way of getting rid of Willie Brown. Pete Schabarum, a County Supervisor from Los Angeles, wrote an initiative that would impose the strictest term limits on any state legislature in the nation. It stated that an Assemblyman could serve no more than six years, and a Senator could serve no more than eight years. A legislator could, in theory, serve in both houses, one after the other, for a total of fourteen years. After that, the individual was banned for life from ever serving in the State Legislature. In addition, Proposition 140 also eliminated member pensions and cut legislative budgets by 38 percent.

Proponents argued that term limits would end career politicians, save taxpayers \$60 million dollars by reducing legislative budgets, create more competitive elections, and end the grip that special interests had on Sacramento state politics. 118 Term limited

legislators, it was thought, would be more attuned to the public than to the special interests. Schabarum stated that Proposition 140 would, "remove the grip vested interests have over the Legislature." Mike Zapler of the *San Jose Mercury News* stated, voters enacted "the strictest term limits in the nation... to end the stench of greed and vote-selling in Sacramento..."

The establishment, including Speaker Brown and many of the Sacramento special interests, opposed the initiative and contributed heavily to try and defeat it. Deponents of the measure outspent the advocates by a margin of 31 to 1. In addition to the arguments that Proposition 140 would limit voting rights and take away the constitutional right to vote for the candidate of your choice, opponents charged that it would force elected officials to become even more dependent on entrenched bureaucrats and lobbyists. Charles Price made this prediction: "...what the future promises in the Legislature (under term limits) is weak leaders, instability and rapid turnover. What the future holds in the lobbying community is seniority, experience, and influence." And veteran lobbyist Mike Dillion predicted, "Lobbyists that represent groups with PAC's will have a distinct advantage in gaining access."

As the campaign drew to a close, Californian's were almost evenly divided on the issue.<sup>127</sup> But on Election Day in 1990, voters in the state passed Proposition 140 by a slim 52 to 48 percent margin.<sup>128</sup> Most political observers felt Californians were simply mad at their elected officials, mainly Speaker Brown, and punished them with Proposition 140.<sup>129</sup> Along with California, Colorado and Oklahoma would also enact term limits on their state legislatures in 1990.<sup>130</sup> Subsequently, twelve other states across the country would follow suit.<sup>131</sup>

Proposition 140 did not have an immediate effect on legislative seniority. That is because sitting members could complete a six or eight-year term, depending on which house they were in, prior to being forced out. But as term limits took hold in 1996, legislative turnover increased dramatically. In the 1996 elections, 75 percent of the lower house members were forced from office. The vast bulk of Assembly members now had two or less years of experience. After 1998, at least 33 percent of the lower house and 20 percent of the upper house would be termed out every two years, resulting in a combined turnover rate of around 28 percent per election cycle. This resulted in the entire legislative body being turned over every eight years.

Proposition 140 did exactly what the law stated it would – cut the legislative budget by 38 percent, limited lawmakers to six or eight year maximum terms, and ended legislative pensions. But it was the unintended consequences of the term limit measure that, in the years to come, would empower a host of unelected powerbrokers, rob the elected body of its institutional memory, send a flood of experienced staff into the Third House, and by most accounts, devastate the effectiveness of the California State Legislature.

A study done by the California Journal in 1993 showed that prior to term limits approximately 11 percent of the lobbying corps had eighteen or more years of experience. But 16 percent of the elected legislators (18 of the 120 members) had eighteen or more years of experience. So there was an approximate balance in experience between the elected officials and the special interests. As longtime lobbyist Delia Chilgren stated, "Before Proposition 140 there were legislators and committee staffers who had incredible depths of knowledge about any given subject matter. Longtime staffer Jackie Hanlon

put it this way, "Prior to term limits members knew their subjects. Oftentimes they knew more than the department heads themselves." <sup>137</sup>

But as term limits kicked in, the long-standing incumbents were forced to leave, replaced by wave after wave of freshman legislators with little to no experience in state government. As Lynda Powell explained, legislators in term limited states have less knowledge and substantive expertise than their more experienced predecessors. And Steve Swatt stated, because there were so many new members, "Inexperienced freshman legislators were now chairs of committees that they had little knowledge on." One Assembly member, overwhelmed by the complexities of the various issues she was now confronted with, stated that she would need "ten years to learn enough to make a difference." This sentiment was backed up by the Senate's Chief Executive Officer, long time staffer Greg Schmidt, "It takes so much time to become proficient in water policy, or transportation. You just can't do it."

Because of a lack of experience, many legislators turned to any source where they could find institutional memory to help them navigate the new waters they found themselves in. Some found that help among long time staff, but even more found it with lobbyists in the Third House. This help can be measured in the rise of sponsored bills that increased dramatically after term limits took hold. A sponsored bill is proposed legislation that is drafted by a special interest. A *San Jose Mercury News* investigation done in 2010 documented the rise of sponsored bills after term limits took effect. It concluded that term limits had created a system where neophyte legislators relied on lobbyists for legislative ideas; help in shepherding those ideas through the process; and

campaign cash. 144 Some freshman lawmakers admitted that over 90 percent of their bills were given to them by the special interests. 145

But not only was the institutional memory among the elected officials vanishing, long time staff were leaving almost as fast as the new members were coming in. <sup>146</sup> That is because Proposition 140 mandated a 38 percent cut in the Legislature's budget. As with most organizations, labor is the primary cost of doing business. The Proposition 140 mandated cuts in the legislative budget therefore, would mostly have to come out of the people side of the equation. But the unexpected way the cuts were made would actually end up costing the Legislature a lot of their most experienced personnel. <sup>147</sup>

Both houses offered "golden handshakes" if long time staff would take early retirement. Handshakes Many did and thereby minimized any terminations of younger, less experienced, staff. Some of the staff who left really did retire. But many more went to work using their expertise for their new bosses in the Third House. Handshaped As long time legislative staffer Maeley Tom stated, "The Legislature is no longer considered a long-term career occupation (for staffers). It is more of a stepping-stone to other opportunities…" This would be the beginnings of a serious trend toward the revolving door in Sacramento where staff and some members would look at the Third House as their ultimate goal. And as former Washington D.C. lobbyist Jack Abramoff has stated, the lure of post-public service lobbying employment is one of the greatest potential sources of corruption in government. Handshaped the staff would be staff and some of the greatest potential sources of corruption in government.

At the time of Proposition 140's passage in 1990, the Legislature had approximately 2,500 staff. But within four months, 1,650 of them had taken the enhanced buyouts and left. That represents a 66 percent reduction in staffing levels in

just four months. And the records also show that these were the experienced staff that were leaving.<sup>154</sup> The nonpartisan Legislative Analyst's Office was decimated. The Senate Education committee had three of its four consultants leave. The Assembly Ways and Means Committee lost experts on taxation, local government, public schools, social services, and toxics. Both house parliamentarians left.<sup>155</sup> Overall, the Legislature made \$56 million dollars in cuts to a \$171 million-dollar budget.<sup>156</sup> Not until around the year 2000 would the Legislature recover and then finally surpass the pre-Proposition 140 spending levels.<sup>157</sup>

Another unanticipated consequence of Proposition 140 was legislators in term-limited states, as Kisser and Straayer demonstrated in their study, tend to work on smaller issues that can be accomplished in a shorter time frame. Short term, rather than long-term thinking, per their study, has been the unintended result of term limits. As one legislator confided to a lobbyist, "What do I care what happens after I am gone? I won't be here to see the results." Former Assembly Republican Leader, and current lobbyist. Bob Naylor stated that term limits have produced a short-term mentality and made lawmakers increasingly reluctant to even consider proposals that might be opposed by the major special interests. For the Democrats those major special interests would be labor, and for the Republicans, anti-tax groups. Jeff Jerry Roberts and Phil Trounstine also stated that Proposition 140 rewarded short-term, self-interested political thinking more than long-term policymaking in the public interest.

Proposition 140, because it opened up so many seats every election cycle, also increased the number of campaigns for those open seats. <sup>162</sup> This was yet another unanticipated result of the initiative. Beginning in 1996, when Proposition 140 came into

full force, longtime incumbents were termed out and there was suddenly a plethora of open seats with a steady stream of subsequent openings every two years. Special interests soon seized upon this opportunity to go into primary election contests and try to elect someone who already shared their beliefs. They did this via generous campaign donations and supplying the campaign with volunteers. As a result, campaign spending in 1996 increased by 22 percent over the previous election cycle. This was a trend that would only intensify in the years to come as special interests increasingly saw the opportunity to assist in determining the outcome of primary elections in open seated contests.

With the onset of the full effects of Proposition 140, the power balance shifted dramatically away from the elected officials and toward the unelected special interests. Gone were the twenty-year veterans, replaced by neophyte lawmakers that were dependent on their staffs and lobbyists in the Third House. Former Senate and Assembly Republican Leader Jim Brulte stated that term limits fundamentally altered the dynamic between special interests and legislators. "When I was Republican leader in the Assembly, special interests needed me. Today, the leadership in the Legislature needs the special interests." A dangerous combination was thus developing; first with the full-time legislature that was the co-equal of the other branches of state government; then with Proposition 13's concentration of power within that legislature; and with the passage of Proposition 140, that very powerful co-equal branch of government was now being manned by very inexperienced legislators and their staffs. As a result, the playing field of this very powerful state government was being dramatically tilted in the favor of the

lobbyists and special interests that were vastly more experienced than the other players.

But one last jolt would alter the terrain even further in just ten years.

#### Proposition 34 (2000): Campaign Finance Reform

"California politicians think about campaign money when they get up in the morning, they think about it all day and they think about it at night." 166

Art Agnos California State Assemblyman 1976-1987 Mayor, San Francisco 1988-1992

"Elected officials now depend on lobbyists to fund their campaigns..." 167

Steve Swatt Game Changers, Twelve Elections that Transformed California

Money in American politics isn't as old as the republic, but almost. It began with the campaign of Andrew Jackson, the first person to seek the Presidency that was not of independent means. And although Jackson in his 1824 and 1828 campaigns didn't raise money for the office himself, his surrogates and workers did. It didn't take long after that for the first campaign finance law to be enacted by Congress. In 1867 Congress declared that employees of the federal government could not solicit campaign donations from naval yard workers. And over the next 150 years many additional such attempts to get money out of politics, and separate campaigning from governing, would be made. One of these attempts was California's Proposition 34 in the year 2000.

State Senator Ross Johnson, along with political activist Tom Knox, wrote Proposition 34 and convinced the Legislature to place it on the November ballot. <sup>170</sup> It dealt with campaign finance reform and the effort to contain campaign costs and reduce the influence of special interests. Specifically, Proposition 34 declared that candidates for state office would be limited in how much money they could accept from any one

source. In the case of state legislators, the maximum amount a donor could contribute was \$3,000. Statewide, candidates could accept \$5,000, and gubernatorial candidates up to \$20,000. Contribution amounts would be indexed to inflation.<sup>171</sup> In addition, other facets of Proposition 34 would prohibit lobbyists from giving any money themselves, or acting as a conduit for money into the candidate's campaigns.<sup>172</sup> Inducements were also put in place to encourage candidates to accept spending limits, such as getting a ballot statement that all voters would receive in the mail.<sup>173</sup>

The objectives of the proposition were clear, curb the amount of money raised and spent on political campaigns, and thus curb special interest influence over the political process. Campaign reform is always popular with voters and on election day the people of California overwhelmingly approved Proposition 34 by a vote of 60 to 40 percent. 174

But as the proposition went into effect, literally none of the stated goals of the initiative would be met. In fact, just the opposite would occur through a host of unintended consequences. Rather than contain costs, as Proposition 34 hoped to do, campaign spending exploded via a new spending vehicle—the independent expenditure. And since these independent expenditure committees were not controlled by the candidates themselves, but rather by consultants hired by the special interests, there was less accountability to the voters. Additionally, since most independent expenditure campaigns utilized good government sounding names, there would be less transparency as voters had trouble discerning who was truly behind all the campaign ads. Finally, since Proposition 34 did nothing to contain the cost of campaigning, only the amounts donors could give, candidates would spend even more time fundraising than they did prior to the initiative's enactment.

The first unintentional impact of Proposition 34 was over the amounts of time candidates had to spend fundraising. Historically, the cost of campaigning in California has outstripped inflation by a sizable amount, so the initiative's indexing of contribution limits did little good in terms of keeping up with rising campaign costs. <sup>177</sup> Television, radio, direct mail, office space and other campaign related expenses all continued to rise, sometimes dramatically. As campaign costs rose, therefore, the time required to raise the amounts of money necessary to run a successful campaign also increased. Candidates had to broaden their financial base, talk to more people, and spend more time on the phones dialing for dollars, just to raise the same amounts of money they had done in the past. And if they wanted to raise more to keep up with rising costs, they had to spend even more time fundraising. As longtime political fundraiser Jack Barnum stated, "Candidates spend more time fundraising today than at any time in my 38-year career in campaign finance." Fundraising under Proposition 34, therefore, took on even greater importance in California politics.

And the more time legislators spend fundraising, per Lynda Powell's empirical evidence, the greater the influence of the donors on those candidates. This fact was underscored by thirty-three-year veteran lobbyist Richard Ratcliff when he stated, "I understand from a legislator's standpoint that they only have so much time. They have to raise campaign money, so they have to prioritize who they see based on this. Proposition 34, rather than lessen the influence of money in politics by lowering the amounts candidates could take, actually, and inadvertently, increased that influence by increasing the amounts of time needed to fundraise.

shouts," was the conclusion of a Fair Political Practices Commission report on the effects of Proposition 34 in terms of money and political influence. 182

But what happened to all that money that the special interests could no longer pour into campaigns? The reformers might have hoped that it would just go away, but it didn't. In her study of the influence of money in state legislatures, Lynda Powell found that laws adopted to limit or ban campaign contributions alter how money flows into politics much more than they reduce the total inflow. One reason for this, according to Powell, is that donors and professional fundraisers adapt quickly to any new finance regulations and find creative ways to get around the intent of the new laws. As one long time legislative staffer remarked, "The special interests will always find a way. Adjunct Professor on campaign finance, and current State Assemblyman Brian Maienschein, concurred and believes that money in politics is like water rolling down a hill: you can damn it up in one location only to have it overflow into a lot of unanticipated directions. This is exactly what took place as a result of Proposition 34.

According to the FPPC analysis on the effects of Proposition 34, the unintended results of placing limits on what PAC's and individuals could give directly to the candidate, created a large, and largely unregulated, pool of funds that were then dispersed via a new spending vehicle called the independent expenditure. An independent expenditure is a campaign either for or against a candidate running for office that is not connected to, or controlled by, the campaign being run by the candidate. In California, an independent expenditure campaign can raise and spend funds in unlimited amounts. This is because the federal courts have ruled that independent expenditures are protected under the free speech provisions of the constitution. Independent expenditures were

probably the biggest of the unanticipated occurrences that arose from Proposition 34 and they proliferated after the passage of Proposition 34.<sup>189</sup>

Large special interests with very large political action committees (PAC's), like public employee labor unions, the California Chamber of Commerce, the California Medical Association, the California Dental Association, the insurance industry, the realtors, the oil companies, and the trial lawyers, would all come to utilize the independent expenditure. In the years after Proposition 34 they would use these independent expenditure committees to massively leverage their power in the State Capitol. They did this in one of two ways—either by selecting and electing candidates of their choice in primary elections, or through intimidation of sitting members based upon the sheer size and power of their PAC's.

The President of the California Chamber of Commerce, Allan Zaremberg, explained how the process of how "select and elect" works in terms of finding candidates who share your beliefs and then funding their campaigns. "If we can find Democrats and Republicans who share (our) philosophy, then that's our job to try to help them get elected, vs. somebody that doesn't." In the 2008 election, the Chamber's JobsPAC spent \$2.2 million attempting to select and elect candidates of their choosing. From 2002 to 2008, the combined total that California special interests spent trying to select and elect candidates was more than \$110 million. A recent special election in 2015 for a state senate seat cost over \$12 million. Most of this \$12 million was in the form of independent expenditures and most of that was from Sacramento special interests.

But the extremely large amounts of campaign funds that independent expenditures control can also act to not so subtly intimidate sitting members of the Legislature. As

Shane Goldmacher stated in his piece for the *Sacramento Bee*, independent expenditure committees "strike fear in the sitting lawmakers that one wrong move could cost them their job." West Sacramento Mayor and former State Assembly candidate Christopher Cabaldon outlined the strategy behind large independent expenditure campaigns; the idea is to "make such a dramatic showing that other successful candidates have to take notice—and at least think twice before they stray from the orthodoxy." Retired State Senator Sheila Kuehl weighed in, "If I piss off SEIU (a public employees union) and I'm vulnerable and I need their help in a contested election—not just money but boots on the ground—then I'm going to think twice about crossing them." The fear isn't just of big unions, Kuehl stated, but of all moneyed interests like big oil, big real estate, big medical, big business. <sup>198</sup>

Because candidates have come to depend on the special interests to finance their campaigns, both legislators and staff often seek to ingratiate themselves to the major financial players, and this can spill over into the legislative arena as well. A 2012 survey of all 50 state legislatures conducted by Lynda Powell found that on average legislators believed that political contributions exercised a substantial influence on legislative activity. Perhaps not on straight up or down votes on the floor of the legislature, notes Powell, but in the influence that can be seen in the drafting or refining of bills, as well as in the ability to kill bad bills.

The California Chamber of Commerce provides one such example of the influence of a major financial player in the State Capitol. The Chamber has millions of dollars that it utilizes for independent expenditure campaigns. <sup>202</sup> It also has a list of what it calls "Job Killer" bills. These are legislative bills opposed by the Chamber of

Commerce. Over the last fifteen years, the Chamber has had an outstanding kill rate of 91 percent of the bills it opposes.<sup>203</sup>

Another example of the power and success of money in Sacramento are the public employee unions. Labor represents the single largest contributor to Democratic campaigns in California. In addition, their independent expenditures dwarf all other participants by a very wide margin. Per a report done by California Common Sense, labor unions represent the largest source of independent expenditures in California. Labor backed independent expenditure committees spent nearly 50 percent of all independent expenditure dollars between the years 2000 and 2012, more than three times their nearest competitors. <sup>205</sup>

What have been the results of these expenditures? Per former staffer and now longtime Sacramento lobbyist Mark Hobson, the number one question he gets from Democratic offices when lobbying for his clients is, "Where's labor on this?" And if you don't have the backing of labor, he states, you can forget about getting your bill passed. Labor's total domination on issues affecting their members usually works behind the scenes, but sometimes bubbles over onto public display, as when a spokesperson for the Home Workers Union publicly dressed down the Democrats on the Budget Conference Committee:

"You know the power, the backing, helped many Democrats get into office who would not have done so without the assistance of the homecare workers union.

We helped to getcha into office, and we got a good memory. And come

November, if you don't back our program, we'll help to get you out of office." 207

And Jan Emerson of the California Hospital Association, simply stated, "In order to be an effective association, you have to have a well-funded PAC." <sup>208</sup>

With the rise of the independent expenditure came another unexpected consequence of Proposition 34, that being reduced transparency. The first thing an independent expenditure committee does is file a name with the Secretary of State's Office. These names are almost always good government sounding groups like *JobsPAC*, which is actually big business represented by the state Chamber of Commerce; or *Neighbors United for a Stronger Middle Class*, which is public employee unions; or *The Alliance for California's Tomorrow*, which is really tobacco, oil, and the real estate industry. These PAC's then run independent expenditure campaigns either in favor of, or opposed to, particular candidates. The good government sounding name appears in all the advertisements, and in very small type, the major donors behind the committee. Voters must look carefully to see who is paying for the advertising.

In addition, one independent expenditure committee with a good government sounding name will often give to another independent expenditure committee with another good government sounding name, thus creating further clouding as to who is really funding what.<sup>210</sup> A curious voter would have to go online and track down each PAC and see who their donors were to discover who was behind the funding in the campaign. Finance expert Jack Barnum summed up the situation, "Given the busy lives and oftentimes lack of attention many voters pay to politics, this occurrence of checking out who is backing an independent expenditure committee is not one that is apt to happen very often."<sup>211</sup> The end result is that industries or groups that might be perceived

negatively by the voters can hide behind good government sounding committees and engage fully in trying to elect their chosen candidates.<sup>212</sup>

Because of this lack of accountability and transparency, the campaigns these independent expenditure committees run are oftentimes far more aggressive, or misleading, than the candidate might run themselves. "Some of the nastiest, dirtiest and downright dishonest campaigns I have seen run over the last 14 years or so (since Proposition 34 was enacted) have been run by independent expenditure committees," stated Carl Rodman, a 40-year campaign veteran. "Independent expenditure campaigns allow the candidates to keep their hands clean, while allowing someone else to do the dirty work." In 2016 for example, an independent expenditure campaign that was financially backed by the oil companies claimed that "The Sierra Club ranks Ling Ling Chang as a top Republican for a healthy environment...." When in fact, the Sierra Club called Chang's record "shameful" and stated she received a zero on a recent environmental scorecard they put out. 214

Finally, despite Proposition 34's attempt to contain campaign costs, politicians in California have raised more than \$1 billion dollars for their elections since its enactment. By 2014, 40 percent of the State Senate campaigns cost more than a \$1million to run. And the explosion of independent expenditures have only added to the growing price tag associated with campaigns in California. Between 2000 and 2006, a 6,144 percent increase in independent expenditure spending in legislative races took place. From 2000 to 2009, contributions to candidate controlled ballot measures (that also have no contribution limits) increased 200,000 percent. In the 2014 election cycle, ballot measure and independent expenditure campaigns spent \$420 million dollars. And

this doesn't include money spent by the state parties or money spent on California Congressional campaigns. But only two years later in 2016, ballot measures and independent expenditure campaign costs increased by 62 percent to \$680 million. A tobacco tax measure alone drew \$100 million in spending, as did an attempt to regulate the pharmaceutical industry.

Today, the explosion of money into the system via both direct contributions, as well as the independent expenditure campaigns, has made candidates in California almost completely dependent on the large special interests for their elections. In 2016, for example, Tom Lackey and Jacqui Irwin ran for the California State Assembly. Each of them was in a contested race and raised significant campaign funds. Irwin, a Democrat from Thousand Oaks, raised close to \$1.4 million. 221 Lackey, a Republican from Palmdale, raised around \$900,000.<sup>222</sup> In each of their cases, the vast majority of those funds came from special interests in Sacramento. 87.5 percent of Irwin's campaign contributions came from outside of her district, most of them from the Sacramento special interests.<sup>223</sup> Only 6.3 percent of Lackey's money came from his district, the rest was raised from fellow legislators, the Republican Party, and the special interests in Sacramento. 224 And these numbers do not include the very large independent expenditures that were done by the Sacramento special interests on behalf of each candidate. The truth is today, as Steve Swatt has concluded, "Elected officials now depend on lobbyists to fund their campaigns..."225 And the problem with this, as Lynda Powell demonstrated, is that special interest influence increases in direct proportion to monetary dependence.<sup>226</sup> And both of these problems are primarily due to the unintended consequences of Proposition 34.

### **PART III**

## **Putting the Pieces Together: The Unintended Results of the Four Initiatives**

Proposition 1-A created a full-time, professional legislature, the highest paid in the nation. But 1-A also created full-time, professional politicians. These full-time professional politicians tended to make reelection their primary concern. They tended to hire more political staff that also made getting their bosses reelected a top priority. Legislators who focus on reelection also give greater priority to raising the necessary funds for a successful campaign. Add to this mix Proposition 34, that by placing limits on the amounts legislators could raise from any one contributor, increased the amount of time members must spend fundraising to keep their jobs. Both Proposition 1-A and Proposition 34 then, led to increased time spent fundraising, and with it, as Lynda Powell has demonstrated, increased concern over donor desires. Since most California State Legislators, as Steve Swatt demonstrated, get their campaign funds from the special interests out of Sacramento, the two propositions had the effect of increasing the concern over what these special interests wanted from state government.

Proposition 13, which came along twelve years after Proposition 1-A, gave this professional full-time legislature unpreceded new power by largely stripping local governments of their taxing authority, and concentrating decision making in the halls of the State Capitol. Because Proposition 13 was a dramatic tax cut, as well as a concentration of power at the state level, fights over resource allocation intensified as tax dollars needed to fund governmental programs diminished. These two factors—fight for scarce resources and a concentration of power—led the special interests to increase their presence in Sacramento by adding lobbyists, increasing their campaign budgets, and

spending more on gifts for members and staff. All of these trends within the Third House were designed to increase influence and curry favor with these newly empowered state elected officials.

After the passage of term limits with Proposition 140, however, the legislators went from generally being among the most seasoned players around the state capitol, to being among the least experienced. The cuts in the legislature's budget that Proposition 140 mandated also caused a flood of experienced staff to leave the building, many of them going into the ranks of the Third House. Neophyte members and inexperienced staff then looked to the special interests for institutional knowledge and help with their legislation. Because of Proposition 140, today the special interests are the defacto repository of institutional memory regarding the legislative process and the history behind various issues. The special interests thereby provide an invaluable resource to state legislators and their staff. But they are also a resource with an agenda that is driven by whomever they happen to represent.

Term limits, as Lynda Powell points out, was also a contributing factor in reducing a legislator's desire to work on the big problems the state faces like deteriorating roads, unfunded pensions, income inequality, or lack of water storage; and instead led, them to concentrate on more manageable problems such as the banning of school mascots, allowing barbershops to serve beer, and the naming of the California redlegged frog as the official state amphibian. In other words, legislation that, as one veteran staffer put it, "will have little long term effect on the people of California. 230

Staff, whose own ranks massively swelled with the passage of Proposition 1-A, had ambitions of their own and began running for legislative seats themselves after 1966.

In addition, after the passage of Proposition 140, the inclination of staff to join the lucrative ranks of the Third House became increasingly common. And as a result of the increased campaign clout Proposition 34 gave to the special interests, both staff and legislator often became reluctant to take on the lobbyists who could now either pave the way for their career desires, or block them.

There is intense partisanship in today's capitol culture. This is due at least in part to the creation of a full-time legislature, as well as the intense battle over resources that became routine since the passage of Proposition 13. The results have been not only intense battles between Republicans and Democrats over taxes and government services, but also between various segments within the largely dominant California Democratic party itself, that at times has pitted environmentalists vs. labor interests, or Central Valley moderates against coastal liberals.<sup>231</sup> So despite the fact that Democrats today hold all five statewide constitutional offices, and have two thirds majorities in both the State Assembly and the Senate, little of substance can be accomplished because of the intense partisan, geographic, and ideological divides within the state.<sup>232</sup>

Finally, Proposition 34 that dealt with campaign finance reform, not only didn't reduce the amounts of money in politics, it dramatically increased it, while at the same time reducing the accountability in how that money was spent. Today, there is more money in California politics than at any time in its history, and almost all of it comes from the Sacramento special interests.<sup>233</sup> And with this dramatic increase of money into the system came an even larger increase in the influence and power of those special interests who wield it.

The special interests today use their money not only on campaigns, but to lavish gifts upon both the legislators and their staffs. A look at the public reports reveals gifts such as tickets to Disneyland; professional sporting events like the San Francisco Giants or Sacramento Kings; concerts like the Rolling Stone or Britney Spears; golf at such exclusive courses as Torey Pines and Pebble Beach; travel to such places as Hawaii, Miami, Cuba, and Brazil; and hotel stays at such locations as the Ritz Carlton. From 2000 to 2014 more than \$6 million in gifts to state leaders and their aides were handed out. \$900,000 in gifts were given to members and staff from the special interests in the 2012/13 cycle alone. 235

Gifts, like campaign contributions, are used to form the bonds of friendship. This "friendship" is then used for the purpose of gaining access to the legislator and staff in order for the special interests to state their case on behalf of their clients. Retired ARCO executive George Babikian stated that "getting access to the legislature (via providing free tickets) is one of the key reasons the oil company inked the ARCO Arena sponsorship in the first place." "...Sacramento is where the rules are written in California," Babikian stated. "It was a good way to impress the Legislature." ARCO has given over \$430,000 in free tickets to concerts and sporting events to legislators and their staffs from 2000 to 2010. Bob Stern from the Center for Governmental Studies summed up the reality of gift giving to legislators and staff; "There's only one reason (lobbying groups) give tickets: to advance their agenda." Gift giving then, it just one more monetary arrow in the quiver of lobbyist weapons in today's State Capitol.

In summary, the combined effects of the four propositions discussed in this paper resulted in a dramatic power shift away from the elected representatives and toward the

unelected lobbyists that now seem to monopolize the Capitol playing field. As a result of the four initiatives, California state politics today is dominated by large special interests that control huge political action committees that can reward friends and punish enemies. They use these large PAC's to "select and elect" neophyte state representatives who already share their vision of government. And with PAC's that have good government sounding names that transfer their funds from one PAC to another, there is now less accountability and less transparency than at any times since campaign contribution reporting began.

And what do these special interests want? Lynda Powell in her book quotes Tom Loftus, Speaker of the House in Wisconsin for the answer; "The truest thing I can say about special interest money is that it is mainly given to buy the status quo." But today, for California—with the greatest income inequality in the nation, large unfunded pension obligations, low performing schools, a severe housing crisis, a bad business climate, highest taxes in the nation along with the highest rates of poverty—clearly the status quo isn't working for anyone but the special interests. <sup>240</sup>

# Conclusion—The Irony and the Hope of Direct Democracy

"I do not by any means believe the initiative, the referendum, and the recall are the panacea for all our political ills, yet they do give to the electorate the power of action when desired, and they do place in the hands of the people the means by which they may protect themselves."<sup>241</sup>

Hiram Johnson Governor of California, 1911-1917

There is an ironic twist of fate in the fact that populist Governor Hiram Johnson introduced the initiative as a method to curb the power of the special interests in

California.<sup>242</sup> Advocates of the four initiatives discussed in this paper also stated that their goals were to curb the power of the special interests. Yet the unintended consequences of all four initiatives resulted not in a tamping down of the special interests, but rather in a dramatic shift of power toward them. Today, because of Proposition 1-A, Proposition 13, Proposition 140, and Proposition 34, the special interests in Sacramento are as powerful as at any time since the days of the Southern Pacific Railroad.

According to the author of *Game Changers*, even Hiram Johnson knew that his direct democracy reforms could be abused: "I am quite aware that this year the referendum has been put to some base uses." He stated in 1914. "I am aware too that the initiative may have been as you would have preferred it should not be used." And he predicted that the time might come again when reforms would be required to right the ship of state and free it from the grip of the special interests. When that time does come, he stated, "the most powerful weapons that you will have for your defense and the perpetuity of what you hold most dear politically, will be the initiative, the referendum, and the recall."

Time will tell if Hiram Johnson's belief in direct democracy was well founded. But if the last fifty years is any indication, for Johnson's direct democracy to work, an educated, informed, and active electorate is required. Otherwise, no matter what the reforms might be, the special interests will, as they did with the four propositions discussed in this paper, generally find a way to tilt the playing field to their advantage. Under such circumstances, the hope of direct democracy will remain but an unfulfilled dream.

### **ENDNOTES**

- <sup>1</sup> Swatt, Steve. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Berkeley: HeyDay, 2015. Pg. 72.
- <sup>2</sup> "History of California initiatives." California Secretary of State. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/ballot-measures/resources-and-historical-information/history-california-initiatives/.
- <sup>3</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 59.
- <sup>4</sup> Thill, Scott. "From Ticketmaster to Trees: An Interview with Pearl Jam Guitarist Stone Gossard." Wired. October 17, 2008. Accessed March 3, 2017. https://www.wired.com/2008/10/pearl-jam-ax-ma/.
- <sup>5</sup> McWilliams, Carey. "California: The Great Exception." Santa Barbara. Peregrine Smith, 1976. Pgs. 178-179.
- <sup>6</sup> Ibid. Pgs. 178-179.
- <sup>7</sup> "Says the Interests Rule US: But the West Is in Revolt, Declares Governor-Elect Johnson." The New York Times, December 15, 1910. December 15, 1910. Accessed April 1, 2017.

https://newspaperarchive.com/new-york-times-dec-15-1910-p-6/.

- <sup>8</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Election That Transformed California." Pg. 71-73.
- <sup>9</sup> "California Initiative and Referendum, Proposition 7 (October 1911)." Ballotpedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. 2011. Accessed April 1, 2017.

https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Initiative\_and\_Referendum,\_Proposition 7 (October 1911).

- 10 "History of California initiatives." California Secretary of State.
- 11 Ibid.
- <sup>12</sup> Bell, Charles, and Charles Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." California Journal, January 1987, 36-41. Accessed November 20, 2016. <a href="http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1987jan-00036">http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1987jan-00036</a>. Pgs. 36-41.
- <sup>13</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>14</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>15</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pgs. 150-152.
- <sup>16</sup> Ibid. Pg. 143.
- <sup>17</sup> Ibid. Pg. 146.
- <sup>18</sup> Ibid. Pgs. 156-157.
- <sup>19</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>20</sup> "California Proposition 1A, the "Constitutional Revision Amendment" (1966) California Proposition 1A, the "Constitutional Revision Amendment" (1966)." BallotPedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed February 20, 2017.

https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Proposition\_1A,\_the\_%22Constitutional\_Revision\_Amendment%22\_(19 66).

- <sup>21</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pgs. 144 & 159-160.
- <sup>22</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>23</sup> Ibid. Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>24</sup> Merton, Robert K. "The Unanticipated Consequences of Purposive Social Action." American Sociological Review 1, no. 6 (1936).
- <sup>25</sup> "Who Was Walter Stiern?" Walter W. Stiern Middle School. January 1, 2017. Accessed February 21, 2017. http://bcsd.com/stiern/who/.
- <sup>26</sup> Barcellos, Anthony. "A biographical sketch of Albert S. Rodda." The Rodda Project. September 19, 2008. Accessed February 21, 2017. http://roddaproject.blogspot.com/2008/09/biographical-sketch-of-albert-s-rodda html
- albert-s-rodda.html. <sup>27</sup> "Comparison of state legislative salaries." BallotPedia. February 24, 2017. Accessed March 15, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/Comparison\_of\_state\_legislative\_salaries.
- 2° Ibid.
- <sup>29</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>30</sup>Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 161.
- <sup>31</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>32</sup> Gamm, Gerald, and Thad Kousser. "Broad Bills or Particularistic Policy? Historical Patterns in American State Legislatures." American Political Science Review, February 2010, 1-20. Accessed September 5, 2016. https://web.stanford.edu/group/west/docs/GammKousserpaper.pdf.

- <sup>33</sup> Bebitch Jeffe, Sherry. "For legislative staff, policy takes a back seat to politics." California Journal, January 1987, 42-46. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1987jan-00042.
- <sup>34</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41. 35 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 159.
- <sup>36</sup> Ibid. Pg. 151.
- <sup>37</sup> Ibid. Pg. 159.
- <sup>38</sup> "Senate Payroll." Senate.Ca.Gov. February 29, 2016. Accessed February 2, 2017.

http://senate.ca.gov/sites/senate.ca.gov/files/senatepayrollbg 022916.pdf. "Assembly Staff Salaries." Assembly.CA.Gov. February 29, 2016. Accessed February 2, 2016.

http://assembly.ca.gov/sites/assembly.ca.gov/files/Salaries/assembly staff salaries - 2-29-2016.pdf.

- <sup>40</sup> Block, A. G., and Robert S. Fairbanks. "The Legislature's staff No. 1 growth industry in the Capitol." California Journal, June 1983, 214-20. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1983iun-00214.
- <sup>41</sup> Miller, Jim. "Assembly hikes pay for many employees, including highest-paid." The Sacramento Bee, March 24, 2014. Accessed March 10, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politicsgovernment/article2593657.html.
- <sup>2</sup> Bebitch Jeffe, Sherry. "For legislative staff, policy takes a back seat to politics."
- <sup>44</sup> Rau, Jordan. "Term Limits Add Up to Brain Drain in Capitol." The Los Angeles Times, July 23, 2006. Accessed February 23, 2017. http://articles.latimes.com/2006/jul/23/local/me-lobby23.
- <sup>46</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>47</sup> Abramoff, Jack. "Capitol punishment: the hard truth about Washington corruption from America's most notorious lobbyist." Washington, D.C.: WND Books, 2011. Pg. 95.
- <sup>48</sup> Ibid. Pg. 95.
- <sup>49</sup> Hopson, Mark. (Name Changed) "Lobbyist Interview." Interview by author. March 3, 2015. In order to gain total candor, as well as to protect interviewees from any possible repercussions, the names of most of the people interviewed for this paper have been changed. In each case where someone's identity has been protected, it has been noted in the footnotes.
- <sup>50</sup> Bebitch Jeffe. "For legislative staff, policy takes a back seat to politics." Pg. 42-46.
- <sup>51</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>52</sup> Ibid. Pg. 36-41.
- 53 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 289.
- <sup>54</sup> Mansbridge, Jane J., and Cathie J. Martin. "Political Negotiation: A Handbook." Washington, D.C: Brookings Institution Press, 2016. Pg. 41.
- 55 Ibid.
- <sup>56</sup> Bell and Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." Pg. 36-41.
- <sup>57</sup> Powell, Lynda W. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press, 2012. Pg. 207.
- <sup>58</sup> See section on Proposition 34, Pg. 21-30.
- <sup>59</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 161.
- <sup>60</sup> York, Anthony. "Gov. Jerry Brown talks Prop. 13." The Los Angeles Times, January 4, 2011. Accessed September 18, 2016, http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/california-politics/2011/01/gov-jerry-brown-talks-
- prop-13.html.

  61 McMahon, Tim. "Inflation and CPI Consumer Price Index 1970-1979." InflationData.Com. March 15, 2017. Accessed March 19, 2017. http://inflationdata.com/articles/inflation-cpi-consumer-price-index-1970-1979/.
- <sup>62</sup> Ibid.
- 63 "Historical Housing Data." California Association of Realtors. Accessed February 22, 2017. https://www.car.org/marketdata/data/housingdata/%20.
- <sup>64</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 195-196.
- <sup>65</sup> Ibid. Pg. 195-195.
- <sup>66</sup> Ibid. Pg. 196.
- <sup>67</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 199.

- <sup>68</sup> "California Proposition 13 (1978)." Ballotpedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed February 21, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/California Proposition 13 (1978).
- <sup>69</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 199.
- <sup>70</sup> Ibid. Pg. 201.
- <sup>71</sup> Ibid. Pg. 201.
- <sup>72</sup> Ibid. Pg. 201.
- <sup>73</sup> Ibid. Pg. 199.
- <sup>74</sup> Ibid. Pg. 207.
- <sup>75</sup> Shires, Michael A. "Patterns in California Government Revenues Since Proposition 13." Public Policy Institute of California, March 1999, 1-111. Accessed December 12, 2016.
- <sup>76</sup> Ibid.
- 77 Ibid.
- <sup>78</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>79</sup> Roberts, Jerry, and Phil Trounstine. "Six reasons why California is ungovernable." Napa Valley Register, June 27, 2009. Accessed March 4, 2017. http://napavalleyregister.com/news/opinion/editorial/six-reasons-why-california-is-ungovernable/article 72d02e72-b853-562a-b6ac-747421aaf4ea.html.
- <sup>80</sup> Chapman, Jeffrey. "Proposition 13: Some Unintended Consequences." Public Policy Institute of California. PPIC, 1 Sept. 1998. Web. 12 June 2015.
- <a href="http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/op/OP\_998JCOP.pdf">http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/op/OP\_998JCOP.pdf</a>. It should be noted that Chapman lists far more unintended consequences of Proposition 13 than I have chosen to cover. He notes that the revenue streams that replaced property taxes—sales tax, hotel, and utility taxes—were far more regressive and therefore placed a larger burden on California's middle and lower classes. Chapman also notes how Proposition 13 had the unintended consequence of changing the patterns of land development in the state as well.
- 81 York, Anthony. "Gov. Jerry Brown talks Prop. 13."
- 82 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 208.
- 83 Shires. "Patterns in California Government Revenues Since Proposition 13." Pg. iv.
- <sup>84</sup> Ibid. Pg. iv.
- 85 Ibid. Pg. xi.
- <sup>86</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 208.
- 87 Chapman. "Proposition 13: Some Unintended Consequences."
- <sup>88</sup> Shires. "Patterns in California Government Revenues Since Proposition 13." Pg. iv.
- <sup>89</sup> "Senator Peace: Cure Prop. 13 'Sickness' by Reassessing Commercial Property, Boosting the Homeowners' Exemption and Cutting the Sales Tax." Cal Tax Digest 4, no. 1 (February 2000): 5-9. Accessed December 16, 2016. http://www.worldcat.org/title/senator-peace-cure-prop-13-sickness-by-reassessing-commercial-property-boosting-the-homeowners-exemption-and-cutting-the-sales-tax/oclc/43468941.
- <sup>90</sup> Borland, John. "Third House Rising." California Journal, February 1996. Accessed February 4, 2017. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1996feb-00028. Pg. 28-32.
- <sup>91</sup> İbid.
- <sup>92</sup> Ibid. and Miller, Jim. "Number of California Lobbyists Grow Over Past Decade." The Sacramento Bee, September 11, 2015.
- <sup>93</sup> Dwoskin, Elizabeth. "Howard Marlowe, Lobbyist Defender." Bloomberg Business Week, June 7, 2012. Accessed January 20, 2017. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2012-06-07/howard-marlowe-lobbyist-defender.
- <sup>94</sup>Hopson, Mark. (Name Changed) "Lobbyist Interview."
- 95 Colburn, Sam. (Name Changed) "Staff Interview." Interview by author. March 23, 2017.
- <sup>96</sup> Borland. "Third House Rising." Pg. 28-32. And Luna, Taryn. "California lobbying tops \$300 million in 2015." The Sacramento Bee, February 2, 2016. Accessed March 7, 2017.
   <sup>97</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>98</sup> Bailey, Steve, and Brenna Erford. "Revenue Volatility Greater for Some States, Certain Tax Types." The PEW Charitable Trusts. June 11, 2015. Accessed March 21, 2017. http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/analysis/2015/06/11/revenue-volatility-greater-for-some-states-certain-tax-types.
- <sup>99</sup> Miller, Jim. "Almost half of California 2014 income taxes paid by top 1 percent" http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article74271532.html#storylink=cpy." The

Sacramento Bee, April 27, 2016. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politicsgovernment/capitol-alert/article74271532.html. <sup>100</sup> Ibid.

101 Cummins, Jeff. "Boom and Bust: The Politics of the California Budget." Berkeley: Institute of Governmental Studies, 2015. Print. Pgs. vii to viii.

102 Roberts and Trounstine. "Six reasons why California is ungovernable."

103 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 209.

<sup>104</sup> Ibid. Pg. 210.

- <sup>105</sup> Roberts and Trounstine. "Six reasons why California is ungovernable."
- <sup>106</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 211.

<sup>107</sup> Ibid. Pg. 211.

<sup>108</sup> Ibid. Pg. 209.

<sup>109</sup> Landes, Emily. "S.F. lost almost \$450 million in revenue last year thanks to Prop. 13." San Francisco Chronicle, December 3, 2016. Accessed December 21, 2016.

http://blog.sfgate.com/ontheblock/2016/12/03/s-f-lost-almost-450-million-in-revenue-last-year-thanks-to-properties and the state of tprop-13/.
110 Borland. "Third House Rising."

111 Schmidt, Bob. "Delia Chilgren - Lobbyist Digs Archaeology, the Arts, Weight-lifting." Sacramento Business Journal, June 2005. June 26, 2005. Accessed December 21, 2016.

http://www.bizjournals.com/sacramento/stories/2005/06/27/focus4.html.

<sup>112</sup> Ibid.

<sup>113</sup> Sragow, Darry. "Political Consultant Interview." Interview by author. March 22, 2017.

114 Lucas, Greg. "PROPOSITIONS / TERM LIMITS / An attempt to prolong an incumbent's political life." The San Francisco Chronicle, February 17, 2002. Accessed December 12, 2016.

http://www.sfgate.com/politics/article/PROPOSITIONS-TERM-LIMITS-An-attempt-to-2872281.php. 115 "California Term Limits, Proposition 140 (1990)." Ballotpedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. June 12, 2015. Accessed February 2, 2017. <sup>116</sup>"Ibid.

- <sup>117</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 239.
- 118 "California Term Limits, Proposition 140 (1990)." BallotPedia.
- <sup>119</sup> Price, Charles, "Advocacy in the age of term limits, Lobbying after Proposition 140," California Journal, October 1993, Pg. 31-34. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1993oct-00031.
- <sup>120</sup> Ibid. 31-34.
- <sup>121</sup> Zapler, Mike. "Many backers of strict term limits now regret it, saying they only made things worse."
- 122 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 240-241.
- 123 "California Term Limits, Proposition 140 (1990)." BallotPedia.
- <sup>124</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>125</sup> Price. "Advocacy in the age of term limits, Lobbying after Proposition 140." Pg. 31-34.
- <sup>126</sup> Ibid. Pg. 31-34.
- 127 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 242.
- <sup>128</sup> Ibid. Pg. 242.
- <sup>129</sup> Ibid. Pg. 240, 243.
- <sup>130</sup> "The Term Limited States." NCSL. March 13, 2015. Accessed February 13, 2017.

http://www.ncsl.org/research/about-state-legislatures/chart-of-term-limits-states.aspx.

- <sup>131</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>132</sup> Borland. "Third House Rising." Pgs. 28-32.
- <sup>133</sup> Ibid. Pgs. 28-32.
- <sup>134</sup> In practice, some members served 6 years in the Assembly and then 8 years in the Senate for a total of 14 years, which would mean complete 100% turnover after 7 election cycles. But in practice very few members (a total of 500 over a 138-year span) actually served in both houses.
- <sup>135</sup> Price. "Advocacy in the age of term limits, Lobbying after Proposition 140." Pg. 31-34.
- 136 Schmidt, Bob. "Delia Chilgren Lobbyist Digs Archaeology, the Arts, Weight-lifting."
- <sup>137</sup> Hanlon, Jackie. (Name Changed). "Capitol Staff Interview." Interview by author. February 2, 2017.

- 138 Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pg. 213.

  139 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 246
- <sup>140</sup> Ibid. Pg. 247.
- <sup>141</sup> Ibid. Pg. 247.
- <sup>142</sup> Poitinger, Leigh, Edwin Garcia, and Sarah Yokubaitis. "How Our Laws are Made." The San Jose Mercury News, August 16, 2016. Accessed August 30, 2016.

http://www.mercurvnews.com/2010/07/06/how-our-laws-in-california-are-really-made/. <sup>143</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>144</sup> Zapler. "Many backers of strict term limits now regret it, saying they only made things worse."
- 145 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 247.
- <sup>146</sup> Ibid. Pgs. 243-244.
- <sup>147</sup> Ibid. Pgs. 243-244.
- <sup>148</sup> Ibid. Pg. 243.
- 149 Rau. "Term Limits Add Up to a Brain Drain."
- 150 Borland, John. "Third House Rising." Pgs. 28-32.
- <sup>151</sup> Abramoff. "Capitol Punishment, The Hard Truth About Washington Corruption from America's Most Notorious Lobbyist.". Pg. 297-309.
- 152 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 243.
- <sup>153</sup> Ibid. Pg. 243.
- <sup>154</sup> Ibid. Pg. 243-244.
- <sup>155</sup> Ibid Pg. 243-244.
- <sup>156</sup> Ibid. Pg. 244.
- 157 "Legislative Expenditures and the Proposition 140 Limit: 1990-91 through 2014-2015." California
- Senate, September 10, 2014.

  158 Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pg. 213.
- <sup>159</sup> Jackson, Lloyd (Name Changed). "Lobbyist Interview." Interview by author. January 21, 2017.
- Zapler. "Many backers of strict term limits now regret it, saying they only made things worse."
- Trounstine and Roberts. "Six reasons why California is ungovernable."
- <sup>162</sup> Rodman, Karl (Name Changed). "Campaign Consultant Interview." Interviewed by author. 10/24/2016.
- <sup>163</sup> Goldmacher, Shane. "Lobbyists still 'select and elect' leaders." Sacramento Bee, 3/30/2009.
- 164 "Candidates for the California State Legislature 1995-1996 Total Campaign Receipts and Expenditures." California Secretary of State, www.sos.ca.gov/prd/finance/finance96/genlink2.htm.
- Zapler. "Many backers of strict term limits now regret it, saying they only made things worse."
- 166 Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 213.
- 167 Ibid. Pg. ix.
- 168 "The Ebb and Flow of Money in Politics: It Will Find a Way." OpenSecrets.Org. June 2014. Accessed January 31, 2017. https://www.opensecrets.org/resources/learn/timeline.php.
- <sup>170</sup> Farrow, Ross. "Campaign reform measure Proposition 34 a confusing issue." Lodi News-Sentinel, November 2, 2000. Accessed February 21, 2017. http://www.lodinews.com/news/article c3bfc8b8-3161-536f-b72c-67123d35898e.html.

  171 "Introduction to California's Ballot Measures." California Online Voter Guide 2000. November 2, 2000.
- Accessed September 5, 2016.

http://www.calvoter.org/voter/elections/archive/2000/general/propositions/analysis.html#34.

- "Proposition 34: Changes to California Campaign Finance Law." California Fair Political Practices Commission. 14 Feb. 2003. Web. 12 June 2015. <a href="http://www.fppc.ca.gov//index.php?id=244">http://www.fppc.ca.gov//index.php?id=244</a>.
- 174 "California Proposition 34, Limits on Campaign Contributions (2000)." BallotPedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed March 3, 2017.
- https://ballotpedia.org/California Proposition 34, Limits on Campaign Contributions (2000).
- "Independent Expenditures: The Giant Gorilla in Campaign Finance." California Fair Political Practices Commission. June 2008. Accessed January 5, 2017.

- http://www.vote4gray.com/files/FPPC%20Publication%20Thwarting%20the%20will%20of%20the%20pe
- ople.pdf.

  176 Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pg. 207.

  177 Lubenow, Gerald C., ed. "A User's Guide to Campaign Finance Reform." New York, NY: Rowman &
- Littlefield Publishers, Inc., 2001. Pg. 33.
- <sup>178</sup> Barnum, Jack (Name Changed). "Consultant Staff Interview." Interview by author. June 5, 2016.
- 179 Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pg. 206.
- Price. "Advocacy in the age of term limits, Lobbying after Proposition 140." Pg. 31-34.
- <sup>181</sup> Ibid. Pg. 206.
- 182 Swatt, Susie. "Big Money Talks, the 15 Special Interests that Spent \$1 Billion to Shape California Government."
- <sup>183</sup> Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pgs. 49-51.
- <sup>184</sup> Ibid. Pg. 211.
- Hanlon, Jackie. (Named Changed) "Capitol Staff Interview."
- <sup>186</sup> Maienschein, Brian. "Legislator/Candidate Interview." Interview by author. August 11, 2012.
- 187 "Independent Expenditures: The Giant Gorilla in Campaign Finance." California Fair Political Practices Commission.
- 188 Chemerinsky, Erwin. "Symposium: The distinction between contribution limits and expenditure limits." SCOTUSblog. August 12, 2013. Accessed April 22, 2017.
- http://www.scotusblog.com/2013/08/symposium-the-distinction-between-contribution-limits-andexpenditure-limits/.
- <sup>189</sup> Polyakov, Mike, Peter Counts, and Kevin Yin. "Independent Expenditures: The New Money in California Politics." California Common Sense. November 4, 2013. Accessed January 7, 2017. http://uscommonsense.org/pdf/21.pdf.
- <sup>190</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>191</sup> Goldmacher, Shane. "Lobbyists still 'select and elect' leaders." Sacramento Bee.
- <sup>192</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>193</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>194</sup> Miller, Jim. "Cost of Senate Race Topped \$12 Million." The Sacramento Bee 10 Aug. 2015; n. pag. Print.
- <sup>195</sup> Ibid.
- 196 Goldmacher. "Lobbyists still 'select and elect' leaders."
- <sup>198</sup> Ibid.
- 199 Hanlon, Jackie. (Name Changed). "Capitol Staff Interview."
- <sup>200</sup> Polyakov, Counts and Yin. "Independent Expenditures: The New Money in California Politics."
- <sup>201</sup> Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pgs. 6-9.
- Polyakov, Counts and Yin. "Independent Expenditures: The New Money in California Politics."
- <sup>203</sup> Walters, Dan. "California 'Job Killer' Strategy a Big Success." Sacramento Bee, June 9, 2015.
- <sup>204</sup> Polyakov, Counts, Yin. "Independent Expenditures: The New Money in California Politics."
- <sup>205</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>206</sup> Hopson, Mark. (Name Changed) "Lobbyist Interview." Interview by author. March 3, 2015.
- <sup>207</sup> "Raw video of SEIU labor leader threatening lawmakers at budget hearing, 5/27/09." Budget Conference Committee. June 18, 2009. Accessed November 22, 2016.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=avB iFEURY4.

- Goldmacher. "Lobbyists still 'select and elect' leaders."
- <sup>209</sup> "Independent Expenditures: The Giant Gorilla in Campaign Finance." California Fair Political Practices Commission.
- <sup>210</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>211</sup> Barnum, Jack (Name Changed). "Consultant Staff Interview."
- <sup>212</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>213</sup> Rodman, Karl (Name Changed). "Campaign Consultant Interview."
- <sup>214</sup> Phillips, Kathryn. "Oil-Backed Independent Expenditure Campaign Misleads Public About Senate District 29 Candidate's Environmental Record." Sierra Club California. October 26, 2016. Accessed April 5, 2017. http://www.sierraclub.org/sites/www.sierraclub.org/files/sce/sierra-club-california/PDFs/Oilbacked%20IE%20Mischaracterizes%20Candidate's%20Enviro%20Record%2010-26-16.pdf.
- <sup>215</sup> Stern, Robert M., and Molly Milligan. "Derailing California's money train." The Los Angeles Times, April 20, 2009. Accessed March 3/, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/opinion/la-oe-stern20-2009apr20story.html.
- <sup>216</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. 231.
- <sup>217</sup> "Independent Expenditures: The Giant Gorilla in Campaign Finance." California Fair Political Practices
- <sup>218</sup> Miller, Jim. "Spending in California's 2016 election hit \$680 million." The Sacramento Bee, February 7, 2017. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitolalert/article131308714.html. Sac Bee, Feb 7, 2017.
- <sup>219</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>220</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>221</sup> "Jacqui Irwin for Assembly 2016." California Secretary of State. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://cal-
- access.sos.ca.gov/Campaign/Committees/Detail.aspx?id=1373767&view=received&session=2015.
- "Lackey for Assembly 2016." Cal-Access. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://calaccess.sos.ca.gov/Campaign/Committees/Detail.aspx?id=1373755&session=2015&view=received.
- www.sos.ca.gov. 223 "Jacqui Irwin for Assembly 2016." California Secretary of State.
- <sup>224</sup> "Lackey for Assembly 2016." California Secretary of State.
- <sup>225</sup> Swatt. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Pg. ix
- <sup>226</sup> Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and
- politics." Pg. 206.
  <sup>227</sup> Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pgs. 51 & 207.
- <sup>28</sup> Chapman. "Proposition 13: Some Unintended Consequences."
- <sup>229</sup> McGreevy, Patrick. "Californians may soon be asked: 'A glass of Pinot Noir with that perm?'" The Los Angeles Times, September 28, 2016. September 28, 2016. Accessed April 14, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/politics/essential/la-pol-sac-essential-politics-updates-californians-may-soon-beasked-a-1475107524-htmlstory.html. Mason, Melanie. "California schools barred from using 'Redskins' as team name or mascot." The Los Angeles Times, October 11, 2015. October 11, 2015. Accessed April 14, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/politics/la-me-pc-redskins-mascot-banned-20151011-story.html. Patterson, Laura. "California Red-Legged Frog Named State Amphibian." CDFWW News. July 15, 2014. Accessed April 14, 2017. https://cdfgnews.wordpress.com/2014/07/15/california-red-legged-frog-named-stateamphibian/.
- <sup>230</sup> Hanlon. (Named Changed) "Capitol Staff Interview."
- 232 "California Roster, 2016." Secretary of State. http://admin.cdn.sos.ca.gov//ca-roster/2016/pdf/00-2016ca-roster2.pdf.
- Miller. "Spending in California's 2016 election hit \$680 million." And, www.sos.ca.gov. http://www.sos.ca.gov/campaign-lobbying/selected-campaign-financing-analyses/.
- Reese, Phillip. "See Every Gift given to State Leaders, Aides." The Sacramento Bee October 13, 2014: n. pag. Print. <sup>235</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>236</sup> Daysog, Rick. "BP Has Big Gift List at Capitol ARCO Tickets Go to Staffers, Family, Friends." The Sacramento Bee, October 11, 2010, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.
- <sup>238</sup> Lin, Judy. "Capitol -- That's the Hot Ticket: Lawmakers Mine a Mother Lode of Freebies, Reports Say." The Sacramento Bee, August 8, 2006, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.
- <sup>239</sup> Powell. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Pg. 5

24 Aug. 2016.

24 Johnson, Hiram. "First Inaugural Address." The Governors' Gallery. Accessed February 20, 2017. http://governors.library.ca.gov/addresses/23-hjohnson01.html.

242 Allswang, John M. "The initiative and referendum in California: 1898-1998." Palo Alto, CA: Stanford, Calif., 2000. Pg.14.

<sup>243</sup> Johnson, Hiram. "Speech at Armory Hall," Sacramento, CA. October 16, 1914. Johnson Papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Luhby, Tami. "California: The Nation's Most Unequal State." CNN Money. CNN, 6 May 2015. Web.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Abramoff, Jack. "Capitol Punishment: The Hard Truth about Washington Corruption from America's Most Notorious Lobbyist." New York: WND, 2011. Print.

Allswang, John M. "The initiative and referendum in California: 1898-1998." Palo Alto, CA: Stanford, Calif., 2000.

Anagnoson, J. Theodore. "Governing California in the Twenty-first Century: The Political Dynamics of the Golden State." New York: W.W. Norton, 2011. Print.

Andrzejewski, Adam. "Mapping The \$100,000 California Public Employee Pensions at CalPERS Costing Taxpayers \$3.0B." Forbes, November 26, 2016.

Apollonio, D.E., and Raymond J. Raja. "Term Limits, Campaign Contributions, and the Distribution of Power in State Legislatures." Legislative Studies Quarterly 31.2 (2006): 259-81. Print.

"Assembly Staff Salaries." Assembly.CA.Gov. February 29, 2016. Accessed February 2, 2016.

http://assembly.ca.gov/sites/assembly.ca.gov/files/Salaries/assembly\_staff\_salaries\_-\_2-29-2016.pdf.

Bailey, Eric, and Michael Rothfield. "Duvall Incident Spotlights Politicians' Perks in Capitol." The Los Angeles Times. Tronc, Inc., 11 Sept. 2009. Web. 24 Aug. 2016.

Bailey, Steve, and Brenna Erford. "Revenue Volatility Greater for Some States, Certain Tax Types." The PEW Charitable Trusts. June 11, 2015. Accessed March 21, 2017.

Baldassare, Mark. "A California State of Mind: The Conflicted Voter in a Changing World." Berkeley: U of California, 2002. Print.

Barcellos, Anthony. "A biographical sketch of Albert S. Rodda." The Rodda Project. September 19, 2008. Accessed February 21, 2017.

http://roddaproject.blogspot.com/2008/09/biographical-sketch-of-albert-s-rodda.html.

Barnum, Jack (Name Changed). "Consultant Staff Interview." Interview by author. June 5, 2016.

Bebitch Jeffe, Sherry. "For legislative staff, policy takes a back seat to politics." California Journal, January 1987, 42-46. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1987jan-00042.

Bell, Charles, and Charles Price. "20 Years of a Fulltime Legislature." California Journal, January 1987, 36-41. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1987jan-00036.

"Bill Index." Official California Legislative Information. November 2016. Accessed January 12, 2017. http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/bilindex.html.

Block, A. G., and Robert S. Fairbanks. "The Legislature's staff - No. 1 growth industry in the Capitol." California Journal, June 1983, 214-20. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1983jun-00214.

Block, Sandra. "*The Least Tax-Friendly States in the U.S.*" Kiplinger.com. Kiplinger, Aug. 2016. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Borland, John. "Third House Rising." California Journal." February 1996, 28-32. Accessed February 4, 2017. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1996feb-00028.

Brown, Willie L. "Basic Brown: My Life and Our times." New York: Simon & Schuster, 2008. Print.

Brown, Willie. "Worth Repeating." The Sacramento Bee 27 May 2015: n. pag. Print.

Burns, Alexander. "How much do voters know?" Politico. March 12, 2012. Accessed December 20, 2016. http://www.politico.com/story/2012/03/are-voters-dumb-073947.

Cadelago, Christopher. "California Capitol Scandals Ooze into Political Campaigns." The Sacramento Bee 18 May 2014: n. pag. Print.

"California Initiative and Referendum, Proposition 7 (October 1911)." Ballotpedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. 2011. Accessed April 1, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Initiative\_and\_Referendum,\_Proposition\_7\_(October\_1911).

"California's Legislature is Ranked Best in the Nation by Survey." California Journal. January 1971. Accessed December 12, 2016. 208.109.186.237/Pub/CalJournal-1971jan-00008?View=PDF&Text=california legislature.

"California's New K-12 Test Scores - What They Are, Why They Matter and How Your School Scored." The Los Angeles Times 24 Aug. 2016: n. pag. The Los Angeles Times. Tronc, Inc., 24 Aug. 2016. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

"California Proposition 1A, the "Constitutional Revision Amendment" (1966) California Proposition 1A, the "Constitutional Revision Amendment" (1966)." BallotPedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed February 20, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Proposition\_1A,\_the\_%22Constitutional\_Revision\_Amendment%22 (1966).

"California Proposition 13 (1978)." BallotPedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed February 21, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/California Proposition 13 (1978).

"California Roster, 2016." Secretary of State. http://admin.cdn.sos.ca.gov//caroster/2016/pdf/00-2016-ca-roster2.pdf.

"California State Water Project." California Department of Water Resources. April 2011. Accessed January 21, 2017.

http://www.water.ca.gov/recreation/brochures/pdf/swp\_glance.pdf.

"California Term Limits, Proposition 140 (1990)." Ballotpedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed December 12, 2016.

https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Term\_Limits,\_Proposition\_140\_(1990).

"California Proposition 34, Limits on Campaign Contributions (2000)." BallotPedia, The Encyclopedia of American Politics. Accessed March 3, 2017.

https://ballotpedia.org/California\_Proposition\_34,\_Limits\_on\_Campaign\_Contributions\_(2000).

"Candidates for the California State Legislature 1995-1996 Total Campaign Receipts and Expenditures." California Secretary of State, www.sos.ca.gov/prd/finance/finance96/genlink2.htm.

"Capitol Staff Live Large amid Cuts - Pay and Benefits Still Robust, Even as State Reduces Essential Services." The Sacramento Bee 14 Oct. 2009, Metro Final ed., Editorials sec.: A16. Print.

Carey, John M., Richard G. Niemi, Lynda W. Powell, and Gary F. Moncrief. "*The Effects of Term Limits on State Legislatures*." Legislative Studies Quarterly 31.1 (2006): 105-34. Print.

Carroll, Stephen J., Cathy Krop, Jeremy Arkes, Peter A. Morrison, and Ann Flanagan. "*California's K-12 Public Schools - How Are They Doing?*" Rand Corporation, 3 Jan. 2005. Web. 24 Aug. 2016.

Chapman, Jeffrey. "Proposition 13: Some Unintended Consequences." Public Policy Institute of California. PPIC, 1 Sept. 1998. Web. 12 June 2015. <a href="http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/op/OP\_998JCOP.pdf">http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/op/OP\_998JCOP.pdf</a>.

Chemerinsky, Erwin. "Symposium: The distinction between contribution limits and expenditure limits." SCOTUSblog. August 12, 2013. Accessed April 22, 2017. http://www.scotusblog.com/2013/08/symposium-the-distinction-between-contribution-limits-and-expenditure-limits/.

Chicago-Kent College of Law at Illinois Tech. "Citizens United v. Federal Election Commission." Oyez. https://www.oyez.org/cases/2008/08-205 (accessed March 20, 2017).

Cockerham, Sean. "Obamacare repeal is a giant risk for California's dwindling Republicans." The Sacramento Bee, February 2, 2017. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/article130391349.html.

Colburn, Sam. (Name Changed) "Staff Interview." Interview by author. March 23, 2017.

"Comparison of state legislative salaries." BallotPedia. February 24, 2017. Accessed March 15, 2017. https://ballotpedia.org/Comparison\_of\_state\_legislative\_salaries.

Costello, Darcy, and Alison Noon. "California lawmakers collect thousands on top of salary while absent." Los Angeles Daily News, September 20, 2016. Accessed September 20, 2016. http://www.dailynews.com/government-and-politics/20160920/california-lawmakers-collect-thousands-on-top-of-salary-while-absent.

Cummins, Jeff. "Boom and Bust: The Politics of the California Budget." Berkeley: Institute of Governmental Studies, 2015. Print.

Curry, Tom. "*A hard-fought race to govern 'ungovernable' California*." Decision 2010, NBC News. October 6, 2010. Accessed January 1, 2017. http://www.nbcnews.com/id/39526458/ns/politics-decision\_2010/t/hard-fought-race-govern-ungovernable-california/.

Daysog, Rick. "BP Has Big Gift List at Capitol - ARCO Tickets Go to Staffers, Family, Friends." The Sacramento Bee, October 11, 2010, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.

DeBow, Ken, and John C. Syer. "Power and Politics in California." New York: Longman, 2000. Print.

Dolan, Jack. "The pension gap." The Los Angeles Times, September 18, 2016. Accessed September 19, 2016. <a href="http://www.latimes.com/projects/la-me-pension-crisis-davis-deal/">http://www.latimes.com/projects/la-me-pension-crisis-davis-deal/</a>.

Donlon, JP, ed. "2016 Best and Worst States for Business." Chief Executive Magazine 11 May 2016: n. pag. Chief Executive Magazine. Chief Executive Group LLC, 11 May 2016. Web. 25 Aug. 2016.

Dwoskin, Elizabeth. "Howard Marlowe, Lobbyist Defender." Bloomberg Business Week, June 7, 2012. Accessed January 20, 2017.

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2012-06-07/howard-marlowe-lobbyist-defender.

Farley, Robert. "Meg Whitman ad blames Brown for too-generous state pensions." Politifact. October 22, 2010. Accessed October 11, 2016.

http://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/statements/2010/oct/22/meg-whitman/meg-whitman-ad-blames-brown-too-generous-state-pen/.

Farrow, Ross. "Campaign reform measure Proposition 34 a confusing issue." Lodi News-Sentinel, November 2, 2000. Accessed February 21, 2017. http://www.lodinews.com/news/article\_c3bfc8b8-3161-536f-b72c-67123d35898e.html.

Field, Mona. "California Government and Politics Today." Boston: Pearson, 2013. Print.

Frum, David. "How We Got Here - The 70's: The Decade That Brought You Modern Life (For Better or Worse)." New York, NY: Perseus Books Group, 2000.

Gamm, Gerald, and Thad Kousser. "Broad Bills or Particularistic Policy? Historical Patterns in American State Legislatures." American Political Science Review, February 2010, 1-20. Accessed September 5, 2016.

https://web.stanford.edu/group/west/docs/GammKousserpaper.pdf.

Goldmacher, Shane. "Lobbyists Still 'select and Elect' Leaders." The Sacramento Bee 30 Mar. 2009. Print.

Green, Joshua. "How to Get Your Perk into a Bill, by Former Lobbyist Jack Abramoff." Bloomberg Business Week 11 Apr. 2013: Print.

Grose, Christian R. "The Adoption of Electoral Reforms and Ideological Change in the California State Legislature." USC Schwarzenegger Institute. University of Southern California, 29 Mar. 2014. Web. 30 Aug. 2016.

Gutierrez, Melody. "California's \$400 billion debt worries analysts." San Francisco Chronicle, February 6, 2016. February 6, 2016. Accessed February 6, 2016. http://www.sfchronicle.com/politics/article/California-s-400-billion-debt-worries-analysts-6812264.php.

Hanlon, Jackie. "Capitol Staff Interview." Interview by author. February 2, 2017.

Hanson, Victor Davis. "The Oroville Dam disaster is yet another example of California's decline." The Los Angeles Times, February 14, 2017. Accessed February 14, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-hanson-oroville-20170214-story.html.

Hecht, Peter. "Scandal: Era of Boozing, Carousing Ever Really End? Sex Culture Has Been Politics as Usual in Capitol." The Sacramento Bee 12 Sept. 2009, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.

"Historical Housing Data." California Association of Realtors. Accessed February 22, 2017. https://www.car.org/marketdata/data/housingdata/%20.

"History of California initiatives." California Secretary of State. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/ballot-measures/resources-and-historical-information/history-california-initiatives/.

Hopson, Mark. (Name Changed) "Lobbyist Interview." Interview by author. March 3, 2015.

"Independent Expenditures: The Giant Gorilla in Campaign Finance." California Fair Political Practices Commission. June 2008. Accessed January 5, 2017. http://www.vote4gray.com/files/FPPC%20Publication%20Thwarting%20the%20will%2 0of%20the%20people.pdf.

"Introduction to California's Ballot Measures." California Online Voter Guide 2000. November 2, 2000. Accessed September 5, 2016.

http://www.calvoter.org/voter/elections/archive/2000/general/propositions/analysis.html# 34.

Jackson, Lloyd (Name Changed). "Lobbyist Interview." Interview by author. January 21, 2017.

"Jacqui Irwin for Assembly 2016." California Secretary of State. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://cal-

access.sos.ca.gov/Campaign/Committees/Detail.aspx?id=1373767&view=received&sessi on=2015.

Johnson, Dennis W. "Political Consultants and American elections: hired to fight, hired to win." New York, NY: Routledge, 2016.

Johnson, Hiram. "First Inaugural Address." The Governors' Gallery. Accessed February 20, 2017. http://governors.library.ca.gov/addresses/23-hjohnson01.html.

Johnson, Hiram. "Speech at Armory Hall," Sacramento, CA. October 16, 1914. Johnson Papers.

Kaiser, Robert G. "So Damn Much Money: The Triumph of Lobbying and the Corrosion of American Government." New York: Knopf, 2009. Print.

Koseff, Alexei. "AM Alert: California lawmakers' per diem allowance raised to new peak." The Sacramento Bee, January 14, 2016, The McClatchy Company ed. January 14, 2016. Accessed February 17, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article54808660.html.

Koseff, Alexei. "Looking to the Capitol: Outside Money Drives East Bay Special Election." The Sacramento Bee 18 May 2015: 1B-3B. Print.

Koseff, Alexei. "In California's Democrat-dominated Capitol, It's Senate vs. Assembly." The Sacramento Bee 24 Aug. 2016: n. pag. Print.

"Lackey for Assembly 2016." California Secretary of State. December 31, 2016. Accessed March 20, 2017. http://cal-

access.sos.ca.gov/Campaign/Committees/Detail.aspx?id=1373755&session=2015&view=received.

Landes, Emily. "S.F. lost almost \$450 million in revenue last year thanks to Prop. 13." San Francisco Chronicle, December 3, 2016. Accessed December 21, 2016. http://blog.sfgate.com/ontheblock/2016/12/03/s-f-lost-almost-450-million-in-revenue-last-year-thanks-to-prop-13/.

"Legislative Expenditures and the Proposition 140 Limit: 1990-91 through 2014-2015." California Senate, September 10, 2014.

Lepore, Jill. "*The Lie Factory: How politics became a business*." The New Yorker, September 24, 2012. Accessed December 12, 2016. http://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2012/09/24/the-lie-factory.

Levinson, Jessica A. "*The Campaign Money Mess*." The Sacramento Bee 9 Aug. 2015, Opinion sec.: n. pag. Print.

Levinson, Jessica A. "*Ruling's No Campaign Finance Cure*." The Sacramento Bee 17 May 2015, Viewpoints sec.: 5E. Print.

Levinson, Jessica A. "*Expand Free Speech by Limiting Political Money*." The Sacramento Bee 21 Sept. 2014, Forum sec.: n. pag. The Sacramento Beet. The McClatchy Company, 21 Sept. 2014. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Lewis, Lindsay Mark., and Jim Arkedis. "Political Mercenaries: The inside Story of How Fundraisers Allowed Billionaires to Take over Politics." New York: Palgrave MacMillan, 2014. Print.

Lin, Judy. "Capitol -- That's the Hot Ticket: Lawmakers Mine a Mother Lode of Freebies, Reports Say." The Sacramento Bee August 8, 2006, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.

Lubenow, Gerald C., and Bruce E. Cain. "Governing California: Politics, Government, and Public Policy in the Golden State." Berkeley, CA: Institute of Governmental Studies, U of California, 1997. Print.

Lucas, Greg. "PROPOSITIONS / TERM LIMITS / An attempt to prolong an incumbent's political life." The San Francisco Chronicle, February 17, 2002. Accessed December 12, 2016. http://www.sfgate.com/politics/article/PROPOSITIONS-TERM-LIMITS-Anattempt-to-2872281.php.

Luhby, Tami. "California: The Nation's Most Unequal State." CNN Money. CNN, 6 May 2015. Web. 24 Aug. 2016.

Luhby, Tami, and Tiffany Baker. "What Is the Middle Class, Anyway?" CNN Money. CNN, n.d. Web. 24 Aug. 2016.

Luna, Taryn. "California lobbying tops \$300 million in 2015." The Sacramento Bee, February 2, 2016. Accessed March 7, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article57960523.html.

Maienschein, Brian. "Legislator/Candidate Interview." Interview by author. August 11, 2012.

Mandle, Jay. "The Problem of Independent Expenditures." Huffington Post. June 27, 2016. Accessed September 21, 2016. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jay-mandle/the-problem-of-independen\_b\_7677958.html.

Mansbridge, Jane J., and Cathie J. Martin. "Political Negotiation: A Handbook." Washington, D.C: Brookings Institution Press, 2016.

Masket, S. E., and J.B. Lewis. "A Return to Normalcy? Revisiting the Effects of Term Limits on Competitiveness and Spending in California Assembly Elections." State Politics & Policy Quarterly 7.1 (2007): 20-38. Print.

Masket, Seth E. "It Takes an Outsider: Extralegislative Organization and Partisanship in the California Assembly, 1849-2006." Am J Political Science American Journal of Political Science 51.3 (2007): 482-97. Print.

Masket, Seth E. "No Middle Ground: How Informal Party Organizations Control Nominations and Polarize Legislatures." Ann Arbor: U of Michigan, 2009. Print.

Mason, Melanie. "California schools barred from using 'Redskins' as team name or mascot." The Los Angeles Times, October 11, 2015. October 11, 2015. Accessed April 14, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/politics/la-me-pc-redskins-mascot-banned-20151011-story.html.

Mathews, Joe, and Mark Paul. "California Crackup: How Reform Broke the Golden State and How We Can Fix It." Berkeley: U of California, 2010. Print.

McGreevy, Patrick. "Californians may soon be asked: 'A glass of Pinot Noir with that perm?" The Los Angeles Times, September 28, 2016. September 28, 2016. Accessed April 14, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/politics/essential/la-pol-sac-essential-politics-updates-californians-may-soon-be-asked-a-1475107524-htmlstory.html.

McGreevy, Patrick. "California Politics Updates: Democrats Get Campaign Checks after Minimum Wage Votes." The Los Angeles Times 1 Apr. 2016: n. pag. The Los Angeles Times. Tronc, Inc., 1 Apr. 2016. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

McMahon, Tim. "Inflation and CPI Consumer Price Index 1970-1979." InflationData.Com. March 15, 2017. Accessed March 19, 2017. http://inflationdata.com/articles/inflation-cpi-consumer-price-index-1970-1979/.

McWilliams, Carey. "California: The Great Exception." Santa Barbara. Peregrine Smith, 1976.

Merton, Robert K. "The Unanticipated Consequences of Purposive Social Action." American Sociological Review 1, no. 6 (1936): 894. doi:10.2307/2084615.

Michael, Jay, Dan Walters, and Dan Weintraub. "The Third House: Lobbyists, Money, and Power in Sacramento." Berkeley, CA: Berkeley Public Policy, 2002. Print.

Miele, Frank. "We the People? Jerry Brown on Money, Politics and Who Really Runs America." Skeptic. The Skeptics Society, 10 Nov. 2010. Web. 24 Aug. 2016.

Miller, Jim. "Almost half of California 2014 income taxes paid by top 1 percent." http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article74271532.html#storylink=cpy." The Sacramento Bee, April 27, 2016. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article74271532.html.

Miller, Jim. "Assembly hikes pay for many employees, including highest-paid." The Sacramento Bee, March 24, 2014. Accessed March 10, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/article2593657.html.

Miller, Jim. "By the Numbers: Lobbyists Spent \$48.5 Million." The Sacramento Bee 12 May 2015: n. pag. Print.

Miller, Jim. "Cost of Senate Race Topped \$12 Million." The Sacramento Bee 10 Aug. 2015: n. pag. Print.

Miller, Jim. "Lawmakers Raked in Millions in 6 Months." The Sacramento Bee 8 Aug. 2015, Insight sec.: 3B. Print.

Miller, Jim. "Lobbying Payments." The Sacramento Bee 23 May 2015: 3B. Print.

Miller, Jim. "Spending in California's 2016 election hit \$680 million." The Sacramento Bee, February 7, 2017. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article131308714.html.

Miller, Jim. "Steady Rise of Lobbyists at Capitol." The Sacramento Bee 12 Sept. 2015: 3B. Print.

Miller, Jim. "Number of California Lobbyists Grow Over Past Decade." The Sacramento Bee, September 11, 2015.

Miller, Susan M., Jill Nicholson-Crotty, and Sean Nicholson-Crotty. "Reexamining the Institutional Effects of Term Limits in U.S. State Legislatures." Legislative Studies Quarterly 36.1 (2011): 71-97. Print.

Morain, Dan. "A Shakedown by Any Other Name." The Sacramento Bee 2 May 2015: n. pag. The Sacramento Bee. The McClatchy Company, 2 May 2015. Web. 27 Aug. 2015.

Morain, Dan. "An Orgy of Spending." The Sacramento Bee 14 May 2015, Insight sec.: 1B-2B. Print.

Morain, Dan. "Legalize Ferrets or Fight Climate Change? Quite a Dilemma." The Sacramento Bee 3 Jan. 2015: n. pag. The Sacramento Bee. The McClatchy Company, 3 Jan. 2015. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Morain, Dan. "*Many Will Dream of Senate, but Money and Geography Matter*." The Sacramento Bee 8 Jan. 2015: n. pag. The Sacramento Bee. The McClatchy Company, 8 Jan. 2015. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Morain, Dan. "Putting for Dough as Session Closes." The Sacramento Bee 10 Sept. 2015: n. pag. The Sacramento Bee. The McClatchy Company, 10 Sept. 2015. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Morain, Dan. "Shedding some light on dark money." The Sacramento Bee, October 8, 2016. Accessed October 8, 2016. http://www.sacbee.com/opinion/opn-columns-blogs/dan-morain/article107006332.html.

Myers, John. "For California's Powerful, Following the Law Often Means Writing It Yourself." Faultlines. KQED, Sacramento, California, 16 Apr. 2015. Radio.

Myers, John. "Political Road Map: How unlimited cash gets funneled into legislative campaigns." The Los Angeles Times, October 23, 2016.

Myers, John. "Political Road Map: The long, cold winter for California pension funds is coming." The Los Angeles Times, December 18, 2016. December 18, 2016. Accessed December 18, 2016. http://www.latimes.com/politics/la-pol-sac-road-map-california-pensions-shortfall-20161218-story.html.

Myers, John. "We Ask California Legislators: Do You Help Draft Bills for Influential Groups?" Faultlines. KQED, Sacramento, California, 12 Jun. 2015. Radio.

Nawaz, Farah. "Campaign Finance Reform "Dollars for Votes" -- The American Democracy." Journal of Civil Rights and Economic Development 14.1 (1999): 155-80. Print.

Norcross, Eileen, and Olivia Gonzalez. "*Ranking the States by Fiscal Condition*." Ranking the States by Fiscal Condition - 2016 Edition. Mercatus Center - George Mason University, 1 June 2016. Web. 27 Aug. 2016.

Ohman, Jack. "Door Prize... Staff and Lobbyists." The Sacramento Bee 24 Jan. 2016.

Patterson, Laura. "California Red-Legged Frog Named State Amphibian." CDFWW News. July 15, 2014. Accessed April 14, 2017.

https://cdfgnews.wordpress.com/2014/07/15/california-red-legged-frog-named-state-amphibian/.

Phillips, Kathryn. "Oil-Backed Independent Expenditure Campaign Misleads Public About Senate District 29 Candidate's Environmental Record." Sierra Club California. October 26, 2016. Accessed April 5, 2017.

http://www.sierraclub.org/sites/www.sierraclub.org/files/sce/sierra-club-california/PDFs/Oil-

backed%20IE%20Mischaracterizes%20Candidate's%20Enviro%20Record%2010-26-16.pdf.

Poitinger, Leigh, Edwin Garcia, and Sarah Yokubaitis. "How Our Laws are Made." The San Jose Mercury News, August 16, 2016. Accessed August 30, 2016. http://www.mercurynews.com/2010/07/06/how-our-laws-in-california-are-really-made/.

Polyakov, Mike, Peter Counts, and Kevin Yin. "Independent Expenditures: The New Money in California Politics." California Common Sense. November 4, 2013. Accessed January 7, 2017. http://uscommonsense.org/pdf/21.pdf.

Powell, Lynda W. "The influence of campaign contributions in state legislatures the effects of institutions and politics." Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press, 2012.

Price, Charles. "Advocacy in the age of term limits, Lobbying after Proposition 140." California Journal, October 1993, 31-34. Accessed November 20, 2016. http://www.unz.org/Pub/CalJournal-1993oct-00031.

"Proposition 34: Changes to California Campaign Finance Law." California Fair Political Practices Commission. 14 Feb. 2003. Web. 12 June 2015. <a href="http://www.fppc.ca.gov/index.php?id=244">http://www.fppc.ca.gov/index.php?id=244</a>.

"Proposition 98 Primer." Legislative Analyst's Office. February 2005. Accessed December 21, 2016.

http://www.lao.ca.gov/2005/prop 98 primer/prop 98 primer 020805.htm.

Rau, Jordan. "Term Limits Add Up to Brain Drain in Capitol." The Los Angeles Times, July 23, 2006. Accessed February 23, 2017.

http://articles.latimes.com/2006/jul/23/local/me-lobby23.

"Raw video of SEIU labor leader threatening lawmakers at budget hearing, 5/27/09." Budget Conference Committee. June 18, 2009. Accessed November 22, 2016. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=avB iFEURY4.

Reese, Phillip. "See Every Gift given to State Leaders, Aides." The Sacramento Bee October 13, 2014: n. pag. Print.

Richardson, H. L. "What makes you think we read the bills?" Ottawa, IL: Caroline House Books, 1978.

Rider, Richard. "*Unaffordable California - It Doesn't Have to Be This Way*." California Policy Center. July 15, 2016. Accessed December 22, 2016.

http://californiapolicycenter.org/unaffordable-california-doesnt-way/.

Roberts, Jerry, and Phil Trounstine. "Six reasons why California is ungovernable." Napa Valley Register, June 27, 2009. Accessed March 4, 2017.

http://napavalleyregister.com/news/opinion/editorial/six-reasons-why-california-is-ungovernable/article\_72d02e72-b853-562a-b6ac-747421aaf4ea.html.

Rodman, Karl (Name Changed). "Campaign Consultant Interview." Interviewed by author. October 24, 2016.

Rumpf, Sarah. "Why Businesses Leave California."

http://www.nationalreview.com/article/426974/why-businesses-leave-california-sarahrumpf." National Review, November 12, 2015.

Salladay, Robert. "Why Money Is Important." The Los Angeles Times, September 11, 2006. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/la-calpolitics-money-missionstatement-story.html.

Samish, Arthur H., and Bob Thomas. "The Secret Boss of California; the Life and High times of Art Samish." New York: Crown, 1971. Print.

Sanders, Jim. "Budget Crunch Doesn't Apply to Capitol Staff - Legislators' Office Allocation Will Rise \$15 Million Automatically under a Formula Set in 1990." The Sacramento Bee 28 July 2007, Metro Final ed., Main News sec.: A1. Print.

Saunders, Debra. "One-party state, meet Party of One." San Francisco Chronicle, December 7, 2016. Accessed December 7, 2016.

http://www.sfchronicle.com/opinion/saunders/article/One-party-state-meet-Party-of-One-10781532.php?t=fe7723eda2&cmpid=fb-premium.

"Says the Interests Rule US: But the West Is in Revolt, Declares Governor-Elect Johnson." The New York Times, December 15, 1910. December 15, 1910. Accessed April 1, 2017. https://newspaperarchive.com/new-york-times-dec-15-1910-p-6/.

Schmidt, Bob. "Delia Chilgren - Lobbyist Digs Archaeology, the Arts, Weight-lifting." Sacramento Business Journal, June 2005. June 26, 2005. Accessed December 21, 2016. http://www.bizjournals.com/sacramento/stories/2005/06/27/focus4.html.

"Senate Payroll." Senate.Ca.Gov. February 29, 2016. Accessed February 2, 2017. http://senate.ca.gov/sites/senate.ca.gov/files/senatepayrollbg\_022916.pdf.

"Senator Peace: Cure Prop. 13 'Sickness' by Reassessing Commercial Property, Boosting the Homeowners' Exemption and Cutting the Sales Tax." Cal Tax Digest 4, no. 1 (February 2000): 5-9. Accessed December 16, 2016.

http://www.worldcat.org/title/senator-peace-cure-prop-13-sickness-by-reassessing-commercial-property-boosting-the-homeowners-exemption-and-cutting-the-sales-tax/oclc/43468941.

Shelley, Susan. "Falling incomes turn California into modern-day Dust Bowl." Los Angeles Daily News, December 6, 2016. Accessed December 6, 2016. http://www.dailynews.com/business/20161206/falling-incomes-turn-california-intomodern-day-dust-bowl-susan-shelley.

Shires, Michael A. "Patterns in California Government Revenues Since Proposition 13." Public Policy Institute of California, March 1999, 1-111. Accessed December 12, 2016. http://www.ppic.org/main/publication.asp?i=78.

Sorauf, Frank J. "Inside Campaign Finance." New Haven: Yale UP, 1994. Print.

Sragow, Darry. "Political Consultant Interview." Interview by author. March 22, 2017.

Staniford, Edward F. "The pattern of California history." San Francisco: Canfield Press, 1975.

Stern, Robert M., and Molly Milligan. "*Derailing California's money train.*" The Los Angeles Times, April 20, 2009. Accessed March 3/, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/opinion/la-oe-stern20-2009apr20-story.html.

Stone, Peter, and Viveca Novak. "Dark Money: The Campaign to Remake the Courts." The Sacramento Bee 17 May 2015, Forum sec.: 1E+. Print.

Strauss, David A. "Corruption, Equality, and Campaign Finance Reform." Columbia Law Review 94.4 (1994): 1369. Print.

Swatt, Steve. "Game Changers: Twelve Elections That Transformed California." Berkeley: HeyDay, 2015. Print.

Swatt, Susie. "Big Money Talks, the 15 Special Interests that Spent \$1 Billion to Shape California Government." California Fair Political Practices Commission, Sacramento, CA: March 2010. Accessed March 19, 2017. http://4dlab.info/money/Big-money-talks-Californias-billion-dollar-club.pdf.

Terhaar, Joyce. "*Election Finance Data Too Tricky to Navigate*." The Sacramento Bee 16 Aug. 2015, Forum sec.: 1E. Print.

"The Ebb and Flow of Money in Politics: It Will Find a Way." OpenSecrets.Org. June 2014. Accessed January 31, 2017.

https://www.opensecrets.org/resources/learn/timeline.php.

"The Money Trail." The Sacramento Bee, December 16, 2016. Accessed December 16, 2016. http://www.sacbee.com/site-

services/databases/article72495842.html#CampaignFinance&!assembly-featured&!measures-featured&!outside-featured&!senate-featured.

"The Term Limited States." NCSL. March 13, 2015. Accessed February 13, 2017. http://www.ncsl.org/research/about-state-legislatures/chart-of-term-limits-states.aspx.

"The ungovernable state: As California ceases to function like a sensible state, a new constitution looks both necessary and likely." The Economist. May 14, 2009. Accessed March 3, 2017. http://www.economist.com/node/13649050.

Thill, Scott. "From Ticketmaster to Trees: An Interview with Pearl Jam Guitarist Stone Gossard." Wired. October 17, 2008. Accessed March 3, 2017. https://www.wired.com/2008/10/pearl-jam-ax-ma/.

Vechten, Renée Van. "California Politics: A Primer." Los Angeles: Sage, 2012. Print.

Walters, Dan. "A third of California is on Medi-Cal, and some Republican counties have high rates." http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article117783423.html#storylink=cpy." The Sacramento Bee, November 29, 2016. Accessed November 29, 2016. http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article117783423.html.

Walters, Dan. "Brown probably won't leave budget deficit, but future cloudy." The Sacramento Bee, November 20, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "California again has the nation's highest rate of real poverty." The Sacramento Bee, September 13, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "California Capitol Sees Throwback to Old Days." The Sacramento Bee 30 Apr. 2015. n. pag. The Sacramento Bee. The McClatchy Company, 30 Apr. 2015. Web. 27 Aug. 2015.

Walters, Dan. "California faces 'skills gap' that colleges aren't closing." The Sacramento Bee, November 29, 2016. Accessed November 29, 2016.

http://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/politics-columns-blogs/dan-walters/article117650208.html.

Walters, Dan. "California 'Job Killer' Strategy a Big Success." The Sacramento Bee, June 9, 2015.

Walters, Dan. "California Legislature's 'reform' of campaign spending was phony." The Sacramento Bee, November 5, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "California's unfunded pension debts may be larger than acknowledged." The Sacramento Bee, September 11, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "How California became a very blue state." The Sacramento Bee, November 27, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "Opinion: Income Gap the Widest in Nation's Blue Cities." The Sacramento Bee 18 Apr. 2015, 1st State ed., Main News sec.: A3. Print.

Walters, Dan. "Public campaign financing should require voter approval in California." The Sacramento Bee, January 7, 2017.

Walters, Dan. "Sneakiness abounded on last, hectic night of California Legislature's session." The Sacramento Bee, September 18, 2016.

Walters, Dan. "*Unions Beat up on Bills They Dislike*." The Sacramento Bee 5 May 2015: A3.

"Who Was Walter Stiern?" Walter W. Stiern Middle School. January 1, 2017. Accessed February 21, 2017. http://bcsd.com/stiern/who/.

York, Anthony. "Gov. Jerry Brown talks Prop. 13." The Los Angeles Times, January 4, 2011. Accessed January 8, 2017. http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/california-politics/2011/01/gov-jerry-brown-talks-prop-13.html.

Zapler, Mike. "Many backers of strict term limits now regret it, saying they only made things worse." The San Jose Mercury News, July 31, 2010. Accessed January 7, 2017. http://www.mercurynews.com/2010/07/31/many-backers-of-strict-term-limits-now-regret-it-saying-they-only-made-things-worse/.